# Human-Human and Human-Animal Interaction

Some Common Physiological and Psychological Effects

Linda Handlin

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Animal Environment and Health Skara

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Skara 2010

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2010:98

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7543-9 © 2010 Linda Handlin, Skara Print: SLU Service, Uppsala 2010

# Human-human and human-animal interaction. Some common physiological and psychological effects

The aim of the present thesis was to investigate hormonal and physiological effects in mothers during a breastfeeding session and in dogs and their owners in response to short-term interaction.

In study one, sixty-six mothers receiving either exogenous oxytocin infusion and/or epidural analgesia (EDA) during labor or intramuscular oxytocin injection post partum were studied. Oxytocin, prolactin, adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) and cortisol levels, as well as blood pressure were measured during a breastfeeding session two days after birth.

In response to breastfeeding two days after birth, the mothers displayed a pulsatile release of oxytocin and increasing prolactin levels. In addition, the activity in the HPA-axis was reduced and maternal blood pressure decreased. The results also show that EDA administration in combination with oxytocin during labor resulted in significantly lower oxytocin levels and higher cortisol levels, as well as higher blood pressure in response to breastfeeding two days after birth, compared to EDA administration alone. In addition, oxytocin infusions dose-dependently lowered the mothers' endogenous oxytocin levels two days after birth.

In study two, ten female dog owners and their male Labrador dogs participated, together with ten controls. Their levels of oxytocin, cortisol and insulin, as well as their heart rate, were measured. The connection between the quality of the dog-owner relationship and hormone levels was also explored.

Short-term interaction between dogs and their owners resulted in oxytocin release in both species and their cortisol levels and heart rate were also affected. Oxytocin levels and positive attitudes regarding the dog-owner relationship were positively correlated.

In conclusion, both human-human and human-animal interactions induce oxytocin release and promote oxytocin mediated effects, such as decreasing cortisol levels and blood pressure. In addition, social interaction and oxytocin levels are positively related.

*Keywords:* oxytocin, cortisol, prolactin, ACTH, blood pressure, medical interventions, sensory stimulation, interaction

*Author's address:* Linda Handlin, Swedish University of agricultural sciences, Department of Animal Environment and Health, P.O. Box 234, 532 23 Skara, Sweden

Systems biology research centre, University of Skövde, P.O. Box 408, 541 28, Skövde, Sweden

E-mail: Linda.Handlin@his.se



# Dedication

To my family

# Contents

List of Publications			
Abbr	Abbreviations		
1	Introduction	13	
1.1	Oxytocin	13	
	1.1.1 Synthesis and localization	13	
	1.1.2 The oxytocin gene	15	
	1.1.3 The oxytocin receptor	16	
	1.1.4 Release	17	
1.2	Effects of oxytocin	18	
	1.2.1 Uterine contractions	18	
	1.2.2 Milk ejection	18	
	1.2.3 Anti-stress responses	18	
	1.2.4 Blood pressure	19	
	1.2.5 Anxiolytic-like and calming effects	20	
	1.2.6 Pain threshold, wound healing, and inflammation	20	
	1.2.7 Storing and transfer of nutrients	20	
	1.2.8 Oxytocin and other signaling systems	21	
	1.2.9 Maternal behavior and adaptations	21	
	1.2.10Social behaviors	22	
	1.2.11Long term effects	22	
1.3	Sensory stimulation	23	
	1.3.1 Sensory fibers	23	
	1.3.2 Effects after non-noxious sensory stimulation	23	
	1.3.3 Sensory stimulation during mother-offspring interaction	24	
1.4	Human-animal interaction (HAI)	24	
	1.4.1 History	24	
	1.4.2 Physiological effects of HAI	25	
2	Aim	27	
3	Material and Methods	29	
3.1	Papers I-III	29	
	3.1.1 Participants and setting	29	
	3.1.2 Preparations	30	
	3.1.3 Blood sampling	30	
	3.1.4 Blood pressure recordings	31	
		5	

	3.1.5 Ethical considerations	31		
	3.1.6 Hormone analysis	31		
	3.1.7 Statistical analysis	31		
3.2	Papers IV–V	32		
	3.2.1 Participants and setting	32		
	3.2.2 Preparations	32		
	3.2.3 Blood sampling, Heart rate and video	33		
	3.2.4 Monash dog owner relationship scale	33		
	3.2.5 Ethical considerations	34		
	3.2.6 Hormone analysis	34		
	3.2.7 Statistical analysis	34		
4	Results and comments	35		
4.1 Effects of intrapartum oxytocin administration and epidural analg				
	the concentration of plasma oxytocin and prolactin, in response to			
	suckling during the second day post partum (paper I)	35		
	4.1.1 Oxytocin	35		
	4.1.2 Prolactin	39		
4.2	Effects of Sucking and Skin-to-Skin Contact on Maternal ACTH and			
	Cortisol Levels During the Second Day Postpartum—Influence of			
	Epidural Analgesia and Oxytocin in the Perinatal Period (paper II)	42		
	4.2.1 ACTH	42		
	4.2.2 Cortisol	44		
	4.2.3 Skin-to-skin contact	47		
4.3	Influence of common birth interventions on maternal blood pressure			
	patterns during breastfeeding two days after birth (paper III)	48		
4.4	Short-term interaction between dogs and their owners - effects on			
	oxytocin, cortisol, insulin and heart rate - an exploratory study (paper	IV)52		
	4.4.1 The dogs	52		
	4.4.2 The owners and controls	52		
4.5	Associations between the psychological characteristics of the human	1-		
	dog relationship and oxytocin and cortisol levels (paper V)	55		
	4.5.1 Monash dog owner relationship scale	55		
	4.5.2 Owners' oxytocin and cortisol levels	55		
	4.5.3 Dogs' oxytocin and cortisol levels	55		
	4.5.4 Dogs' and their owners' hormone levels	55		
5	General discussion	59		
5.1	Physiological responses to breastfeeding two days post partum –			
	influence of medical interventions	59		

	5.1.1 General response	59	
	5.1.2 Medical interventions during labor	60	
	5.1.3 Effects of medical interventions	60	
	5.1.4 Oxytocin levels at labor and two days later	64	
	5.1.5 Effects of skin-to-skin contact	65	
5.2	Physiological and psychological responses to interaction between dogs		
	and their owners	66	
	5.2.1 Response patterns	66	
	5.2.2 Interaction between and within species	67	
5.3	General mechanisms	67	
	5.3.1 Acute and long term effects of interaction	67	
	5.3.2 Relationship between oxytocin levels and interactive be	haviors 68	
5.4	Methodological considerations	69	
	5.4.1 Papers I-III	69	
	5.4.2 Papers IV-V	69	
6	Conclusion	71	
7	Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	73	
8	References	75	
9	Acknowledgements	87	

# List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Jonas, W., Johansson, L M., Nissen, E., Ejdebäck, M., Ransjö-Arvidson, AB., Uvnäs-Moberg, K., (2009). Effects of intrapartum oxytocin administration and epidural analgesia on the concentration of plasma oxytocin and prolactin, in response to suckling during the second day post partum. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 4(2), 71-82.
- II Handlin, L., Jonas, W., Petersson, M., Ejdebäck, M., Ransjö-Arvidson, AB., Nissen, E., Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (2009). Effects of Sucking and Skinto-Skin Contact on Maternal ACTH and Cortisol Levels During the Second Day Postpartum—Influence of Epidural Analgesia and Oxytocin in the Perinatal Period. *Breastfeeding medicine* 4(4), 207-220.
- III Handlin, L., Jonas, W., Ransjö-Arvidson, AB., Petersson, M., Uvnäs-Moberg, K., Nissen, E. (2010). Influence of common birth interventions on maternal blood pressure patterns during breastfeeding two days after birth. *Submitted*
- IV Handlin, L., Hydbring-Sandberg, E., Nilsson, A., Ejdebäck, M., Jansson, A., Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (2010). Short-term interaction between dogs and their owners – effects on oxytocin, cortisol, insulin and heart rate – an exploratory study. *In press. Due to be published in Anthrozoos in 2011*

V Handlin, L., Hydbring-Sandberg, E., Nilsson, A., Ejdebäck, M., Uvnäs-Moberg, K. (2010). Associations between the psychological characteristics of the human-dog relationship and oxytocin and cortisol levels. *Submitted* 

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Linda Handlin to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I. Mainly responsible for chemical analysis of blood samples. Performed statistical analysis of data jointly with Wibke Jonas and wrote the manuscript together with the supervisors.
- II. Mainly responsible for chemical analysis of blood samples and performed statistical analysis of data. Wrote the manuscript together with supervisors.
- III. Performed statistical analysis of data. Wrote the manuscript jointly with the supervisors.
- IV. Mainly responsible for planning and executing the experiment, as well as for chemical analysis of blood samples. Performed part of the statistical analysis (t-test), and wrote the manuscript together with supervisors.
- V. Mainly responsible for planning and executing the experiment, as well as for chemical analysis of blood samples. Performed the statistical analysis of data and wrote the manuscript together with the supervisors.

# Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotrophic hormone
CNS	Central nervous system
CRF	Corticotrophin-releasing-factor
СТ	C-tactile afferent
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
DMX	Dorsal vagal motor nucleus
EDA	Epidural analgesia
$\mathrm{EDA}^{\mathrm{nonOT}}$	Epidural analgesia without oxytocin infusion
$EDA^{OT}$	Epidural analgesia with oxytocin infusion
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbentassay
HPA-axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis
ICV	Intracerebroventricular
im	Intramuscular
iv	Intravenous
LC	Locus coerulus
MDORS	Monash dog owner relationship scale
NA	Nucleus accumbens
NP	Neurophysin
NTS	Nucleus tractus solitarius
OTim	Oxytocin administered intramuscular
OTiv	Oxytocin administered intravenously
OTR	Oxytocin receptor
PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PVN	Paraventricular nucleus
RIA	Radio-immuno-assay
RN	Raphe nuclei
SBP	Systolic blood pressure

SONSupraoptical nucleusSPSSStatistical Package for the Social Sciences

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Oxytocin

# 1.1.1 Synthesis and localization

Oxytocin is a neuropeptide that acts both as a hormone and as a neurotransmitter. It consists of nine amino acids with a very well conserved chemical structure, as is evident by oxytocin being identical in all mammalian species.

Oxytocin is synthesized in the cell bodies of the magnocellular and parvocellular neurons of the paraventricular nuclei (PVN) and of the magnocellular neurons of the supraoptical nuclei (SON) of the hypothalamus.

From the magnocellular neurons in the SON and PVN, oxytocin is transported via axons to the neurohypophysis, from where it is released into the circulation to exert its hormonal effects. Once in the circulation, oxytocin has a half-life of one to two minutes (Ludwig and Leng, 2006, Richard, 1991).

Oxytocinergic nerve fibers originating from the parvocellular neurons in the PVN reach a number of different areas in the central nervous system (CNS) (summarized in table 1), where oxytocin can exert neurogenic effects.

In addition, during extremely strong stimulation, e.g., suckling, oxytocin can also be released directly from the cell bodies and from the dendritic parts of the neurons within the PVN and SON. This direct release allows oxytocin to diffuse into areas that are devoid of oxytocin nerves but richly provided with oxytocin receptors (Ludwig and Leng, 2006).

In the CNS, oxytocin has a half-life of about 20 minutes and it is often degraded into smaller active fragments before binding to receptors to induce

effects (Burbach et al., 2006, Ludwig and Leng, 2006, Richard, 1991, Stancampiano et al., 1991)

Table 1. Areas of relevance for the present studies in the CNS to which oxytocin neurons reach (Buijs et al., 1985)

Area in CNS	Function
Amygdala	Belongs to the limbic system and is linked to the control of emotions and social interaction
Dorsal vagal motor nucleus (DMX)	The main motor nucleus of the vagal nerve. Innervates the gastrointestinal tract, lungs and cardiovascular systems etc. Cholinergic neurons.
Hippocampus	Belongs to the limbic system and is important for memory, learning, spatial orientation and also for processing information from sensory organs. Participates in the regulation of the HPA-axis.
Locus coerulus (LC)	Located in the brainstem and is related to activity and arousal. Noradrenergic neurons
Nucleus accumbens (NA)	Is located in the forebrain and plays a central role in the reward and reinforcement circuit. Dopaminergic neurons
Nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS)	Is located in the brainstem and is the major sensory nucleus of the vagal nerve. Regulates sympathetic and parasympathetic autonomic functions. Cholinergic neurons.
Periaqueductal gray (PAG)	Located within the midbrain and is important in pain modulation.

In addition to the brain, oxytocin has also been found in, for example, the uterus, ovaries, testis, placenta, thymus, adrenal gland and pancreas, as well as in the heart and blood vessels (Burbach et al., 2006).

Oxytocin is structurally related to the neuropeptide vasopressin. Vasopressin is also synthesized within the SON and PVN of the hypothalamus, but is not located in the same neurons as oxytocin (Vandesande and Dierickx, 1975).

Oxytocin and vasopressin differs by only two amino acids. At positions 3 and 8, oxytocin has isoleucine and leucine, whereas vasopressin has phenylalanine and arginine (lysine in pigs) (Figure 1). These differences are most likely the reason why oxytocin and vasopressin often display opposing effects (Burbach et al., 2006).



Figure 1. Amino acid sequences of oxytocin and vasopressin

# 1.1.2 The oxytocin gene

The human oxytocin gene is located on chromosome 20p13 and is located on the same chromosomal locus as the vasopressin gene in a head-to-head orientation. The structural organization of the genes, as well as the posttranslational modifications of the two, are very similar (Burbach et al., 2006).

The gene consists of three exons which together is less than 1 kb. The first exon codes for oxytocin itself and a spacer sequence. It also codes for the first nine amino-terminal amino acids of the oxytocin-associated neurophysin (NP). The second and third exons together encode the remaining parts of NP.

In total the gene codes for a 106 amino acid precursor composed of the oxytocin hormone (nine amino acids) and NP (94 amino acids). Oxytocin and NP are connected by a three amino acid long spacer sequence (–Gly-Lys-Arg-). The precursor molecule is split into the final oxytocin molecule and the NP molecule. This process starts in the Golgi apparatus and is finished in the vesicles (Burbach et al., 2006). However, it has been suggested that an oxytocin precursor intermediate circulates in human and monkey plasma in states of estrogen dominance (Amico and Hempel, 1990).

## 1.1.3 The oxytocin receptor

The gene for the human oxytocin receptor (OTR) is located on chromosomal position 3p25 and codes for a receptor consisting of 389 amino acids. The receptor is a seven transmembrane domain G protein coupled receptor that belongs to the same structural sub-family as the Vasopressin receptors V1a, V1b and V2.

The oxytocin-binding site of the receptor comprises the extracellular amino-terminal fragment E1 together with the extracellular loops E2 and E3 of the receptor. It seems as if the amino acid residue R34 (arginine) within the E1 appears to be essential for high-affinity oxytocin binding.

Once oxytocin has bound to the OTR it can activate signaling pathways such as the classical G-protein pathway. The coupled G-protein activates phospholipase, resulting in accumulation of inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol. IP<sub>3</sub> then triggers the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, finally resulting in contractions of the smooth muscle tissue and/or increased neurotransmitter release in neurons (Burbach et al., 2006, Gimpl and Fahrenholz, 2001, Gimpl et al., 2008).

The OTR has been detected in various parts of the CNS including the olfactory system, the limbic system, hypothalamus, the thalamus, the basal ganglia, some cortical regions, the brain stem and the spinal cord.

The OTR is also expressed in many tissues throughout the body including blood vessels, kidney, ovary, testis, thymus, heart, pancreas and in adipose tissue (Gimpl and Fahrenholz, 2001).



*Figure 2.* Schematic structure of the human OTR with amino acid residues shown in oneletter code. The Am Physiol Soc, used with permission. Gimpl, G. et al. Physiol. Rev. 81: 629-683 2001.

# 1.1.4 Release

Oxytocin is released in response to sensory stimulation during, for example, parturition, suckling, feeding, gastric distension, and mating in both males and females (Burbach et al., 2006). In addition, physical warmth, massage-like stroking, and olfactory cues can also induce the release of oxytocin (Agren, 1995, Lund, 2002, Stock, 1988, Uvnas-Moberg, 1998b, Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1993).

Parallel secretion of oxytocin into both the brain and the circulation has been shown during parturition, suckling, feeding, vaginocervical stimulation, and osmotic stimulation (Hattori et al., 1990, Kendrick et al., 1986, Kendrick et al., 1988, Keverne and Kendrick, 1994, Leng et al., 2008).

During intense stimulation of oxytocin release, such as during labor and breastfeeding, the oxytocin system in the PVN and SON undergo morphological and functional changes. The glial covering of the oxytocinergic neurons retracts and the somatic/dendritic parts of the neurons become closer to each other, allowing interaction between these cells. The electrical action potential activity is thereby increased and the firing activity of the magnocellular neurons becomes synchronized. Consequently, the neurons start to burst in synchrony, causing a pulsatile release of oxytocin into the circulation (Hatton and Tweedle, 1982, Theodosis et al., 1986, Theodosis, 2002).

Several substances can influence the release of oxytocin; e.g., estrogens increase oxytocin release and binding to OTR (Schumacher et al., 1993, Yamaguchi et al., 1979). Noradrenalin stimulates oxytocin release through  $\alpha$ -adrenerceptors and inhibits the release through  $\beta$ -adrenoreceptors (Tribollet et al., 1978). Dopamine also seems to exert both stimulatory and inhibitory actions on oxytocin (Crowley et al., 1991, Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1995).

From the magnocellular neurons in the PVN and SON oxytocin mediates a positive feedback on its own release (Freund-Mercier and Richard, 1984, Moos et al., 1984).

# 1.2 Effects of oxytocin

Oxytocin has been shown to exert a multitude of physiological and behavioral effects that depend on the dose and timing schedule as well as the experimental model used. The following is a summary of oxytocin effects of relevance to the present study.

### 1.2.1 Uterine contractions

The first effect assigned to oxytocin was the induction of uterine contractions (Dale, 1909).

During labor, as the infant's head is pressing against its mother's cervix, nerve fibers in the pelvic and hypogastric nerves become activated (Ferguson reflex), resulting in an increased release of oxytocin into the circulation and brain. Oxytocin is released in a pulsatile fashion at different amplitudes and intervals, with an increasing frequency as the labor progresses (Burbach et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.2 Milk ejection

Oxytocin is released into the circulation each time a mother breastfeeds her child. When the child suckles, the breast sensory fibers in the nipple are activated, leading to release of oxytocin. As a consequence of the circulating oxytocin levels, the blood vessels in the mother's chest become dilated (Burbach et al., 2006).

During suckling, oxytocin is also released into the brain to induce behavioral and physiological adaptations in the mother (Jonas, 2008a, Leng et al., 2008).

### 1.2.3 Anti-stress responses

In order to facilitate the presentation of the oxytocin-mediated anti-stress effects, a short summary of the stress response is presented, as follows.

When a stressor (either physical or psychological) is presented, two systems dominate in the resulting stress-response.

A first acute response travels through the sympathetic nervous system, where nerves originating in the spinal cord signal for the release of the catecholamines adrenalin and noradrenalin from the adrenal medulla. This response is rapid and the catecholamines are released within seconds. The second response is activation of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical (HPA) axis. When signals of a stressor reach the PVN, corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) and vasopressin stimulate adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) at the pituitary level, which in turn stimulates cortisol at the adrenal level. Cortisol then exerts negative feedback on the axis by acting on the corticotrophs, the PVN, and higher levels in the CNS (Mormede et al., 2007). The increased secretion of CRF occurs within a few seconds, ACTH levels are increased within 15 seconds, and the resulting increase in cortisol levels can be detected within 5-10 minutes after the stressor has been presented (Sapolosky, 2002).

The catecholamines and glucocorticoids released in response to a stressor work together to generate the stress response. This response results in mobilization of energy and its delivery to the parts of the body that need it, and also puts non-essential physiological processes on hold and to blunts inflammation and pain (Sapolosky, 2002).

Oxytocin exerts effects on several sites of the HPA-axis to promote lowering of cortisol levels. In the parvocellular neurons of the PVN, oxytocin decreases CRF secretion; in the adenohypophysis, it decreases the secretion of ACTH from the ACTH producing cells; and in the adrenal glands, oxytocin decreases the secretion of cortisol/corticosterone (Burbach et al., 2006, Neumann et al., 2000, Petersson et al., 2005b, Stachowiak et al., 1995).

Rats receiving oxytocin have lower levels of corticosterone and changes in hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors (Petersson, 1999a, Windle et al., 1997, Petersson et al., 2005b, Petersson et al., 2005a). Oxytocin knock-out mice display an increased release of corticosterone in response to stress (Amico et al., 2008). These results indicate a role for oxytocin in the inhibition of the activity of the HPA axis.

#### 1.2.4 Blood pressure

Oxytocin has a dual effect on blood pressure. Depending on the physiological circumstances and route of administration, oxytocin may either increase or decrease blood pressure (Petersson et al., 1999). After repeated administration of oxytocin, the decrease in blood pressure becomes sustained (Petersson et al., 1999).

Nerves originating in the PVN that contain oxytocin reach the NTS, where oxytocin may exert decreasing effects on the sympathetic nervous tone resulting in lowering of blood pressure. Oxytocin has been shown to

increase the activity of the  $\alpha$ 2-adrenoreceptors in the NTS, which subsequently attenuates the signaling function of noradrenalin and adrenalin in the brain (Petersson et al., 2005a, Petersson et al., 1998).

#### 1.2.5 Anxiolytic-like and calming effects

Rats and mice receiving low doses of oxytocin become less anxious due to effects exerted in the amygdala (Neumann, 2008). These animals display an increased curiosity towards the environment and higher social interaction with their cage mates (Neumann, 2008, Uvnas-Moberg, 1994b). In contrast, knock-out mice lacking the OTR are more anxious and more sensitive to stress than are normal mice (Amico, 2004).

Higher doses of oxytocin cause the animals to display calming or sedative effects, as indicated by decreased locomotor behavior. These effects probably involve decreased activity in the LC, via stimulation of  $\alpha$ 2-adrenoceptors, which leads to reductions in stress reactivity, wakefulness, and aggression (Petersson et al., 1996, Petersson et al., 1998, Uvnas-Moberg, 1994b).

#### 1.2.6 Pain threshold, wound healing, and inflammation

Oxytocin increases nociceptive thresholds, as seen by a longer reaction time in the tail-flick test in rats treated with oxytocin. This effect is probably exerted in the PAG and the spinal cord in response to the activation of endogenous opioidergic mechanisms (Petersson et al., 1996).

Higher oxytocin levels also have been linked to faster wound healing (Gouin et al., 2010). In addition, oxytocin is associated with antiinflammatory effects (Clodi et al., 2008, Szeto et al., 2008, Petersson et al., 2001).

#### 1.2.7 Storing and transfer of nutrients

Oxytocin contributes to an enhanced digestive function and improved use of nutrients for storage, growth, and restoration. Basal levels of insulin, gastrin, and cholecystokinin can be increased or decreased by oxytocin, whereas the feeding-induced release is increased (Holst, 2005, Petersson, 1999b, Uvnas-Moberg, 1994a).

Oxytocin also has insulin-like effects, as displayed by stimulation of glucose uptake in adipocytes and promotion of glucose oxidation and lipogenesis in adipose tissue (Braun et al., 1969).

# 1.2.8 Oxytocin and other signaling systems

Oxytocin can also influence other signaling systems, such as the dopaminergic, noradrenergic, opiodergic, cholinergic, and serotonergic signaling systems. For example, oxytocin activates the dopamine reward pathways and expression of penile erection (Baskerville and Douglas, 2010). Oxytocin increases the density of 2-adrenoceptor agonist binding sites in the hypothalamus, the amygdala, and the NTS (Petersson et al., 2005a). In addition, a functional relationship exists between oxytocin and endogenous opioids, where oxytocin most often is under an inhibitory tone of the opioids (Russell et al., 1989). However, in certain situations, endogenous opioids may stimulate oxytocin release (Keverne and Kendrick, 1991).

## 1.2.9 Maternal behavior and adaptations

Oxytocin plays a key role in the onset of maternal behavior. When administered ICV, oxytocin induces maternal behavior in virgin rats after priming with oestrogen (Pedersen et al., 1982, Pedersen and Prange, 1979).

Release of endogenous oxytocin in sheep, either in connection with labor or by cervical stimulation, increases maternal care and increases the interaction with the lamb and the bonding to the same. The same effects have also been demonstrated after administration of exogenous oxytocin to sheep.

In contrast, if oxytocin release has been blocked during labor by peridural analgesia or if an oxytocin antagonist is administered, the maternal behaviors will not appear (Kendrick et al., 1987, Kendrick et al., 1986, Keverne and Kendrick, 1994).

Oxytocin is also released into the brain during labor and, as a consequence, the maternal sensation of pain is decreased and the memory of the pain is also made less intense and unpleasant. Oxytocin released into the brain during labor also prepares the mother for motherhood (Burbach et al., 2006).

During breastfeeding, when mother and infant are in close skin-to-skin contact, maternal oxytocin is released in response to the child's massage of the mothers' breast and to the suckling stimulus (Matthiesen, 2001).

During breastfeeding, mothers also experience pleasure and a sense of wellbeing and, in addition, their levels of anxiety are reduced and their social skills are increased (Jonas, 2008a, Nissen, 1998).

Anti-stress patterns are also induced during breastfeeding, as displayed by a fall in cortisol levels and blood pressure (Heinrichs et al., 2001, Jonas, 2008b). The mother's sensitivity to pain is reduced and the levels of some gastrointestinal hormones, such as insulin, CCK, and gastrin, are increased. These changes occur in order to ensure that the mother uses her energy in the most efficient way (Uvnas-Moberg, 1996a).

# 1.2.10 Social behaviors

Animal experiments have shown that oxytocin is important for a number of social behaviors. For example, it induces grooming and sexual behavior (Arletti et al., 1985, Caldwell et al., 1986), increases social contacts, and decreases aggression (Witt et al., 1992). Oxytocin has also been shown to facilitate bonding between mothers and young as well as pair bonding (Carter, 1998, Insel, 2003, Keverne and Kendrick, 1992).

Human social behaviors are also influenced by oxytocin. People receiving oxytocin in the form of nasal spray become less anxious and they show an attenuated cortisol response in a mental test. They also show a dampened activity in the amygdala (Heinrichs, 2003, Kirsch et al., 2005).

People receiving nasal oxytocin also show increased social skills, such as the ability to read and evaluate the emotional valence of faces or voices (Domes et al., 2007, Hollander et al., 2007). The duration and frequency of gaze directed towards the eye region is increased (Guastella et al., 2008a) and the encoding of positive social information is enhanced (Guastella et al., 2008b, Rimmele et al., 2009). In addition, oxytocin has been shown to increase trust and generosity in men (Kosfeld, 2005) and to reduce abdominal pain and depression in women (Ohlsson et al., 2005).

# 1.2.11 Long term effects

When oxytocin is administered repeatedly, long- term effects may be induced. Rats receiving repeated injections of oxytocin display reduced blood pressure, increased nociceptive thresholds, and decreased corticosterone levels. These effects can be sustained for up to several weeks after the last injection. In addition, the levels of gastrointestinal hormones are influenced, weight gain is increased, and the time for wound healing is shortened (Uvnas-Moberg, 1998a).

Repeated administration of oxytocin to rats also increases the  $\alpha$ 2adrenoreceptor function in several brain regions, such as the amygdala, the NTS, and the LC (Petersson et al., 2005a).

Rat pups receiving repeated oxytocin administration during their first days of life display significantly lower blood pressure in adulthood (Holst, 2002), as well as higher body weight, relatively more adipose tissue in the thigh and interscapular region, and increased nociceptive thresholds (Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1998).

# 1.3 Sensory stimulation

## 1.3.1 Sensory fibers

The human skin is innervated with many types of somatosensory afferent fibers; e.g., the myelinated  $A\beta$  fibers mediating light touch sensation and the  $A\delta$  and C fibers acting as nociceptors, itch, and temperature fibers.

Human hairy skin is also innervated by a class of slowly conducting unmyelinated afferents, the C-tactile (CT) fibers. These fibers respond to innocuous touch and are especially sensitive to gentle, slowly moving touch of the skin and appear to signal the pleasant aspects of touch (Loken et al., 2009, Vallbo et al., 1999). CT fibers are also present in animal hairy skin.

# 1.3.2 Effects after non-noxious sensory stimulation

Both animals and humans respond to pleasant non-noxious sensory stimulation, which induces a multitude of effects.

Gentle stroking on the backs of anaesthetized rats or afferent electrical stimulation of the sciatic or vagal nerve of anaesthetized rats induce a more than two-fold increase in the rats' plasma oxytocin levels (Stock, 1988). In addition, electroacupuncture, thermal stimulation, or vibration increase the rats' levels of oxytocin in both plasma and cerebral spinal fluid (Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1993).

Brushing or stroking of anaesthetized rats also induces lowering of circulating adrenalin and corticosterone levels and, in addition, blood pressure is reduced (Araki, 1984, Kurosawa, 1995, Kurosawa, 1982, Tsuchiya et al., 1991). Furthermore, efferent vagal nerve activity also increases in response to low-intensity electrical stimulation and stroking (Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1992).

Unanaesthetized rats also respond to the stroking stimuli. Stroking of unanaesthetized rats' abdomens for five minutes induces oxytocin release (Stock, 1988). It also increases the pain threshold and reduces blood pressure (Holst, 2002, Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1993), as well as decreases plasma levels of insulin, gastrin, and somatostatin and lowering energy expenditure (Holst, 2005). In addition, sedative effects are induced, as displayed by reduced spontaneous motor activity (Uvnas-Moberg, 1996b).

Gentle stroking has also been shown to induce long-term antinociceptive and to have blood pressure decreasing effects (Holst, 2002, Lund, 2002)

# 1.3.3 Sensory stimulation during mother-offspring interaction

Interaction between rat mothers and their pups has been shown to induce calmness in both mother and pups (Holst, 2002).

From a long-term perspective, pups exposed to daily stroking of the ventral side of the abdomen for one week postnatally displayed reduced blood pressure and corticosterone levels in adulthood (Holst, 2002).

Pups exposed to highly interactive mothers during the first week of life become less anxious, more social, and more tolerant to stress compared to pups of mothers who interact less. They also have an increased functioning of the oxytocin receptors in the amygdala, indicating a lifelong effect of stroking (Champagne and Meaney, 2007).

In humans, when a baby lies in skin-to-skin contact on its mother's chest before initiation of suckling, it massages the mother's breast, causing a dosedependent release of maternal oxytocin. This release does not display the pulsatile pattern that is seen during suckling (Matthiesen, 2001).

# 1.4 Human-animal interaction (HAI)

# 1.4.1 History

Over 14 000 years ago, humans started to domesticate wolves, since they were valued for their intelligence, keen senses and loyalty. These early dogs served as guardians, guides, and partners in hunting and fishing. Throughout history, pets, especially dogs and cats, have lived in close contact with humans and have now become central to family life, providing 24 companionship and pleasure, and are often considered as family members (Walsh, 2009a, Walsh, 2009b). In 2007, 16.8 % of Swedish households had at least one cat and 12.8% had at least one dog, and the numbers are increasing (Manimalis, 2009).

#### 1.4.2 Physiological effects of HAI

During the last decades, research has emerged that shows health benefits associated with interactions with companion animals.

Pet ownership has been shown to lower blood pressure, serum triglycerides, and cholesterol levels (Allen, 2002). Patients suffering from heart attack had significantly higher 1-year survival rates if they had a pet, compared to those without pets, and dog owners were 8.6 times more likely to be alive after 1 year (Friedmann et al., 1980, Friedmann, 1995).

Pets also have a positive impact on the ability to cope with chronic conditions and on the course and treatment of illness such as heart disease, dementia, and cancer (Friedmann and Tsai, 2006, Johnson et al., 2003). Recovery of hospitalized children has been facilitated interaction with companion animals (Walsh, 2009a) and these animals also ease suffering and anxiety at the end of life for those in palliative and hospice care (Geisler, 2004). In addition, children having a dog present in their classroom display increased social competence (Hergovich, 2002, Kotrschal, 2003).

HAI appears to be mutually beneficial, since stroking a dog has been shown to significantly reduce blood pressure in both the person and the animal (Odendaal, 2003).

Interaction between dogs and their owners have been shown to induce oxytocin release in both the dogs and the owners (Miller, 2009, Odendaal, 2003).

# 2 Aim

The overall aim of the present thesis was to investigate hormonal and physiological effects in mothers during a breastfeeding session and in dogs and their owners in response to short-term interaction.

The specific aims were to investigate

A) In response to breastfeeding:

- Effects on maternal release of oxytocin and prolactin
- Effects on the activity in the maternal HPA-axis
- > Possible relationships between maternal hormone levels
- Effect on maternal blood pressure pattern
- If medical interventions, such as EDA and oxytocin infusions, given during labor effect maternal release of oxytocin, prolactin, as well as activity in the HPA-axis and blood pressure.
- B) In response to short-term interaction between
- Effects on release patterns of oxytocin, cortisol and insulin in both owners and dogs
- Effects on heart rate in both owners and dogs
- > Possible relationships between owners' and their dogs' hormone levels
- Possible relationship between the quality of the dog-owner relationship and hormone levels in owners and/or dogs

# 3 Material and Methods

The following is a summary of the material and methods used. For a more detailed description, see papers I-V.

# 3.1 Papers I-III

# 3.1.1 Participants and setting

The study was conducted at one of the six maternity clinics in Stockholm, Sweden, during January 2002 to December 2003.

Healthy primiparae admitted to the maternity ward on weekdays (Monday to Friday) and fulfilling the inclusion criteria were consecutively informed 10-24 hours after delivery about the study by the two midwives conducting the study.

In total, 86 mothers fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Sixty-three (63) mothers gave their informed consent to both blood sampling and blood pressure measurements and were included in the study. An additional three (3) mothers gave their informed consent to blood pressure measurements only. Twenty (20) mothers declined participation. Two (2) mothers who gave their informed consent had to be excluded for technical reasons during blood sampling/analysis.

Since it is not possible to randomize patients to the different medical interventions studied, we chose a descriptive strategy not to disturb the natural flow of the medical interventions explored.

Labor had started spontaneously in all mothers, but if inertia was diagnosed during labor, oxytocin was administered intravenously (iv) (OTiv group).

If required, epidural analgesia containing the pharmaceuticals bupivacaine and sufentanil (a synthetic opioid that is 5 to 10 times more potent than its

analogue fentanyl) was administered for pain relief. Some mothers received EDA alone (EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group), whereas others received EDA combined with exogenous oxytocin infusion (EDA<sup>OT</sup> group).

According to Swedish practice guidelines, all women receive 8.3  $\mu$ g (10 IU) oxytocin (Syntocinon<sup>®</sup>; Novartis AB, Täby, Sweden) intramuscularly (im) after birth to prevent bleeding. During the study period, midwives were instructed not to administer oxytocin im to the women fulfilling the inclusion criteria. However, some midwives did not comply with this instruction and therefore some mothers *did* receive oxytocin im postpartum. These mothers were included as a separate group in the study (OTim group).

Partners stayed together with the mothers and newborns during the subsequent days following birth. The setting was created to be as home like as possible, with no daily hospital routines (unless necessary) taking place and breastfeeding was strongly promoted.

#### 3.1.2 Preparations

All data were collected by the same two research midwives during the morning on the second day post partum, when the newborns were between 24 and 48 hours old.

Each mother was instructed to call for the researchers when the neonate showed rooting and suckling behaviors. A blood pressure monitor (Omron R5-1 Wrist blood pressure monitor, Omron Healthcare, the Netherlands) was then attached to the mother's right wrist for the purpose of blood pressure recordings. An intravenous cannula was inserted in the cubital vein of the mother for the purpose of blood sampling. The midwife then placed the baby in skin-to-skin contact between the mother's breast and the baby was allowed to initiate suckling itself. The infant's legs and trunk was covered with a light blanket in order to keep it warm.

Each mother was asked to stay in skin-to-skin position with her baby for 60 minutes irrespective of duration of suckling and all mothers complied with this instruction.

# 3.1.3 Blood sampling

In order to catch the pulsatile oxytocin release, blood samples were collected at 30-second intervals during the first 7.5 minutes of suckling, with the first sample taken immediately after the baby started to suck the breast.

The following samples were then taken at 10, 20, 30 and 60 minutes after the baby had started to suck the breast.

A blood sample (5 ml) took approximately 10-15 seconds to collect. All blood samples were collected into ice-chilled tubes containing Trasylol<sup>®</sup> (Bayer AG Leverkusen, Germany) and Heparin<sup>®</sup> (LEO Pharma A/S Ballerup, Copenhagen, Denmark). After the experiment, the samples were centrifuged, the plasma was removed, and the samples were stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

## 3.1.4 Blood pressure recordings

The basal maternal systolic (SBP) and diastolic (DBP) blood pressure was considered as the measurement taken 5 minutes before the infant was placed skin-to-skin with their mother; subsequent measurements occurred during skin-to-skin contact at 10, 30, and 60 minutes after breastfeeding had been initiated.

# 3.1.5 Ethical considerations

The ethical committee at the Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, approved the study.

# 3.1.6 Hormone analysis

Hormone levels in the plasma were determined using commercially available ELISA/EIA-kits following the instructions of the manufacturers. The following kits were used; Correlate-EIA <sup>™</sup> Oxytocin Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Assay designs, Inc. Ann Arbor, USA), Prolactin Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay kit (Prolactin Enzyme Immunoassay kit, Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Inc. Texas, USA), ACTH EIA kit from Alpco Diagnostics (Alpco Diagnostics, Salem, USA) and DSL-10-2000 ACTIVE<sup>®</sup> Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Inc. Texas, USA).

# 3.1.7 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using the software Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS - version 14.0 to 18 (PASW), Chicago, IL, USA, 2010).

Since the study groups were relatively small and a normal distribution could not be taken for granted, all statistical analyses were performed using

non-parametric statistics; i.e., median and interquartile distances ( $Q_{25} - Q_{75}$ ) were used to describe demographic data of mothers and newborns and also for describing hormonal data for the mothers. However, mean values were used for describing maternal blood pressure. The Kruskal-Wallis test for independent samples or the Mann-Whitney U-test for independent samples were used to test differences between the groups and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to test for differences within groups over time. In addition, the Spearman rank coefficient was used for calculating correlations.

# 3.2 Papers IV-V

#### 3.2.1 Participants and setting

The study was conducted at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences in Skara, Sweden.

Included in the study were ten women older than 30 years and their male Labrador dogs who were older than 1 year. Ten female volunteers, within the same age span as the dog-owners, who did not own a dog, served as controls.

The room where the study was conducted was an ordinary room provided with a desk, four chairs, a bookcase, and a water bowl for the dog.

The goal was to perform all experiments, both for the owners and the controls, during the evening, but due to the participants' work schedules, some of the experiments were performed during the morning (4 owners and 5 controls).

#### 3.2.2 Preparations

When the participants arrived at the testing facility, they were equipped with a heart rate monitor (s610i <sup>TM</sup>, Polar precision performance, Polar Electro) for the purpose of heart rate recordings. In addition, an indwelling catheter was inserted into the cubital vein of the dog owners and the controls and an intravenous catheter was inserted into the cephalic vein of the dogs, for the purpose of blood sampling. Insertion of catheters and sampling of blood in the dogs and humans were performed by the same experienced animal caretaker and nurse, respectively.

Before the experiment started, the owner sat in a chair with the dog loose, sitting or lying beside her. The owner approached her dog at time point zero and started to pet and stroke different parts of the dog's body and talked to the dog for 3 minutes. The owner then remained seated in her chair and did not touch the dog for the rest of the experiment, which lasted for a total of 60 minutes.

The conditions for the control group were the same as for the owners with the exception that there was no dog present during the control experiments.

Due to technical problems, heart rate was only measured in 5 controls.

# 3.2.3 Blood sampling, Heart rate and video

All blood samples were taken simultaneously from the dog and the owner. The first sample was collected 30 minutes after insertion of the catheters and immediately before the owner started to interact with her dog. Subsequent samples were collected at 1, 3, 5, 15, 30 and 60 minutes after the start of the interaction.

All blood samples (4 ml) were collected into EDTA tubes containing Trasylol® (Bayer AB). The samples were immediately put on ice, centrifuged, and then the plasma was collected and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

The heart rate monitors registered the heart rate every  $15^{th}$  second, but only the recordings obtained at each  $5^{th}$  minutes were used in the statistical analysis.

The entire interaction experiment (60 minutes) was videotaped and the videotapes were analyzed in order to control for the dogs' behavior and experience of the situation.

### 3.2.4 Monash dog owner relationship scale

The dog owners evaluated their relationship with their dog by completing the Monash dog owner relationship scale (MDORS) (translated into Swedish from (Dwyer et al 2006)) during the last 30 minutes of the experiment.

The MDORS contains 28 items concerning both the positive and negative aspects of the relationship with the companion dog. The items are

divided into the three sub-scales Dog-owner interaction, Emotional closeness and Perceived costs.

# 3.2.5 Ethical considerations

The experimental procedure for the humans was approved by the Local Ethics Committee in Uppsala, and the procedure for the dogs was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee in Uppsala. The use of privately owned dogs was approved by the National Board of Agriculture. For ethical and practical reasons, it was not possible to perform control experiments on the privately owned dogs.

# 3.2.6 Hormone analysis

Hormone levels in the plasma were determined using commercially available ELISA/EIA-kits by following the instructions of the manufacturers. The following kits were used; Correlate-EIA <sup>TM</sup> Oxytocin Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Assay designs, Inc. Ann Arbor, USA), DSL-10-2000 ACTIVE <sup>®</sup> Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Inc. Texas, USA), Mercodia Canine Insulin ELISA 10-1203-1 and Mercodia Insulin ELISA 10-1113-10 according (Mercodia AB, Uppsala, Sweden).

### 3.2.7 Statistical analysis

The data were analyzed using the software SAS version 9.1 for Windows (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA; 2002) and Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS/PASW) version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA; 2009).

The changes in hormone and heart rate levels at specific time points, compared to the start of the dog-owner interaction (0 minutes) were analyzed using linear mixed models in the MIXED procedure of SAS, one model for each trait, with sampling as a categorical predictor. Hormone levels for dogs and humans were normalized by logarithmic transformation  $(\log_{10})$  before statistical analysis, in paper IV.

Paired t-tests were calculated to test for differences between the extreme and basal values of oxytocin and cortisol (paper IV).

The Spearman rank coefficient was used for calculating correlations between non-transformed hormone levels and mean values of scores of MDORS in paper V.



# 4 Results and comments

The first part of this thesis explored if and how exogenous oxytocin infusion and EDA administered during birth, and intramuscular oxytocin injection administered post partum, influence maternal levels of oxytocin and prolactin (paper I), ACTH and cortisol (paper II), as well as maternal blood pressure (paper III) during a breastfeeding session two days after birth.

The second part explored if and how short term sensory interaction between dogs and their owners affect their levels of oxytocin, cortisol, and insulin, as well as their heart rate (paper IV), and if there were any relationships between the hormone levels in the dogs and their owners. In addition, the owners' evaluation of the dog-owner relationship was explored for any connection to oxytocin and cortisol levels in the dogs and owners (paper V).

The most important results are briefly presented and commented upon. For a detailed description, references are made to the original articles (paper I-V).

# 4.1 Effects of intrapartum oxytocin administration and epidural analgesia on the concentration of plasma oxytocin and prolactin, in response to suckling during the second day post partum (paper I)

# 4.1.1 Oxytocin

The median (Q25-Q75) oxytocin level at the start of suckling was 119.7 (96.4-217.5) pg/ml for the entire group of women. The median (Q25-Q75) oxytocin levels increased significantly to 166.6 (119.7-215.1) pg/ml within

90 seconds after the start of suckling (p=0.001). During the first 7.5 minutes, a pulsatile oxytocin pattern, with three to four pulses (visually observed), was recorded in all mothers (Figures 3-5).

The median oxytocin levels were lower in the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group compared to the other groups (OTiv group p=0.005, OTim group p=0.033, EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group p=0.051) (Figures 4 & 5).

For the mothers who had received oxytocin infusion during labor (OTiv group and EDA<sup>OT</sup> group), a significant negative correlation was noted between the amount of exogenous oxytocin they had received and their endogenous oxytocin levels two days later (p=0.019); i.e., the higher the dose of exogenous oxytocin received during labor, the lower their endogenous oxytocin levels two days later (Figure 6).



*Figure 3.* Median oxytocin levels (pg/ml) for the control group (n=20) and the OTim group (n=13) for each time point during the breastfeeding session


*Figure 4.* Median oxytocin levels (pg/mL) for the control group (n=20),  $EDA^{\text{nonOT}}$  group (n=6) and the  $EDA^{\text{OT}}$  group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 5.* Median oxytocin levels (pg/mL) for the control group (n=20), the OTiv group (n=8) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 6.* Scatter plot displaying the correlation between the endogenous median oxytocin levels for the women in the OTiv and  $\text{EDA}^{\text{OT}}$  groups and the amount of exogenous oxytocin they received during labor (p=0.019).

#### Comments on effects on patterns and levels

All mothers in the present study displayed a pulsatile oxytocin pattern during the first 10 minutes, when blood samples were taken with 30-second to 2.5-minute intervals. The pulses, which lasted for about 90 seconds, are likely due to the morphological and functional changes induced in response to the intense suckling stimulus. This reflects the coordinated electrical firing activity in the magnocellular cells of the SON and PVN (Poulain and Wakerley, 1982).

Administration of epidural analgesia or oxytocin infusion during labor did not affect the pulsatile release of oxytocin during breastfeeding. This is in contrast to previously reported effects following cesarean section, which was shown to induce significantly fewer oxytocin pulses during the first ten minutes of breastfeeding (Nissen, 1996b).

A negative relationship was observed between the amount of exogenous oxytocin that the mothers in the OTiv and EDA<sup>OT</sup> group received during labor and their endogenous oxytocin levels two days later, suggesting that the oxytocin infusion had caused a feedback inhibition of the endogenous oxytocin secretion. However, the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group had lower oxytocin levels



compared to the OTiv group. This suggests that oxytocin administered iv during labor exerts partly opposing effects on the breastfeeding-related oxytocin response during the second day postpartum: an inhibitory feedback effect, independent of the epidural analgesia, which therefore is likely to be mediated via the circulation, and a second positive feed-forward effect, involving neurotransmission in the spinal cord, which was consequently blocked by the epidural analgesia.

#### Comments on methodological aspects

Oxytocin levels were higher in this study, where EIA was used to determine oxytocin levels, when compared to results obtained in earlier studies by our group, where oxytocin levels were measured by radio-immuno-assay (RIA). Similar differences between these two techniques have also been reported by other authors (Levine et al., 2007).

It appears that the basal levels of oxytocin are higher when measured with EIA compared to RIA (Uvnäs-Moberg, 2011).

Since standard curves give valid results in EIA, the assumption must be made that something more than oxytocin is measured with this technique. Whether this is because the antibodies used not only recognize oxytocin, but also bind to substances that are similar to oxytocin (e.g., precursors, fragments and metabolites of oxytocin), or something completely different, is not known.

These differences in oxytocin levels when using EIA or RIA make it impossible to compare oxytocin levels reported in different studies where the different techniques have been used.

We believe that the oxytocin values in our study (paper I) are valid for the purpose of that study, since they demonstrate a clear breastfeedingrelated pulsatile pattern following initiation of breastfeeding, irrespective of group. In addition, the dose-dependent effects of oxytocin support the validity of the obtained oxytocin values.

#### 4.1.2 Prolactin

The median (Q25-Q75) prolactin level at the start of suckling was 250.4 (180.8-304.1) ng/ml for the entire group of women. The median (Q25-Q75) prolactin level increased significantly to 315.4 (223.2-364.1) ng/ml 20 minutes after start of suckling ( $p\leq0.0001$ ).

When the different groups were studied separately, all groups displayed a rise in prolactin levels after 20 minutes, except for the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group; however, the rise in the control group was not significant (Figures 7-9).

A significant rise was observed already after 10 minutes in the OTiv and the EDA<sup>ot</sup> groups (p=0.012 and p=0.008, respectively). This rise differed significantly from that seen on the Control group (p=0.006) (Figure 9).

At the end of the breastfeeding session (after 60 minutes) the prolactin levels in the OTiv and  $\text{EDA}^{\text{OT}}$  groups remained elevated compared to the levels at the start of the session (p=0.012 and p=0.023, respectively) (Figure 9). This continued elevation in prolactin levels was not seen in the other groups.



*Figure* 7. Median prolactin levels (ng/ml) for the control group (n=20) and the OTim group (n=13) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 8.* Median prolactin levels (pg/mL) for the control group (n=20), the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group (n=6) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 9.* Median prolactin levels (pg/mL) for the control group (n=20), the OTiv group (n=6) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.

#### Comments

Breastfeeding during the second day postpartum was, as expected, associated with a release of prolactin.

The rise in prolactin levels in response to suckling was enhanced in the women who had received oxytocin infusion during labor. These women also displayed a more long-lasting release of prolactin in response to breastfeeding, suggesting that oxytocin released in the brain during labor is of importance for future milk production, since oxytocin stimulates prolactin production via the nervous pathways in the anterior pituitary.

#### 4.2 Effects of Sucking and Skin-to-Skin Contact on Maternal ACTH and Cortisol Levels During the Second Day Postpartum—Influence of Epidural Analgesia and Oxytocin in the Perinatal Period (paper II)

#### 4.2.1 ACTH

For the entire group of women, the median (Q25-Q75) ACTH level at the start of suckling was 12.1 (5.3-19.2) pg/ml. ACTH levels then decreased significantly during the entire breastfeeding session and reached its lowest level at 60 minutes (6.1 pg/ml) (p=0.001).

The same significant decrease was also found in the control group (p=0.044) and similar, but non-significant, decreases were observed in the other groups (Figures 10-12).

A significant positive correlation was noted between median ACTH levels and median cortisol levels in the entire group of women and in the control group, when the different groups were studied separately; i.e., the higher the ACTH levels, the higher the cortisol levels (p=0.048 and p=0.013, respectively).

In contrast, significant negative correlations were observed between median oxytocin levels, oxytocin variance, and median ACTH levels in the entire group of women; i.e. the higher the median oxytocin levels and the greater the variance of oxytocin, the lower the median ACTH levels (p=0.009 and p=0.037, respectively).

The negative relationship between oxytocin variance and median ACTH levels could also be seen in the Control and  $EDA^{nonOT}$  groups (p=0.041 and p=0.005, respectively).

The median ACTH level showed a significantly negative correlation with the duration of the suckling in the entire group of women and also in the OTim group when the different groups were studied separately; i.e., the longer the duration of suckling, the lower the median ACTH level (p=0.041 and p=0.031, respectively).



*Figure 10.* Median ACTH levels (pg/ml) for the control group (n=20) and the OTim group (n=13) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 11.* Median ACTH levels (pg/ml) for the control group (n=20), the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group (n=6) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 12.* Median ACTH levels (pg/ml) for the control group (n=20), the OTiv group (n=8) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.

#### Comments

Maternal ACTH levels fell significantly during the breastfeeding session studied.

The negative correlations between median oxytocin levels or variance (an expression of oxytocin pulsatility), as well as the duration of the suckling period and median ACTH levels suggest that ACTH is under an inhibitory influence of oxytocin during breastfeeding. This inhibitory effect on ACTH secretion, exerted by oxytocin, may either have been induced by inhibition of CRF secretion in the PVN or via an inhibitory effect on ACTH secretion by oxytocin released into the hypophyseal portal circulation or released from nerves reaching the anterior pituitary.

#### 4.2.2 Cortisol

The median (Q25-Q75) cortisol level at the start of suckling was 911 (766-1119) nmol/l for the entire group of women. Except for a short transient rise at the beginning of the breastfeeding session, cortisol levels fell during the entire session, with the lowest levels reached at 60 minutes (p<0.0001).

When the different treatment groups were studied separately, the same significant decrease was also found in the Control and  $EDA^{OT}$  groups

(p<0.0001 and p=0.028, respectively) and similar, but non-significant, decreases were observed in the other groups (Figures 13-15).

Cortisol levels at the onset of suckling (0 minutes) as well as the median cortisol level, were significantly lower in the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group compared to the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (p=0.033 and p=0.041, respectively)(Figure 14).



*Figure 13.* Median cortisol levels (nmol/l) for the control group (n=20) and the OTim group (n=13) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 14.* Median cortisol levels (nmol/l) for the control group (n=20), the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group (n=6) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.



*Figure 15.* Median cortisol levels (nmol/l) for the control group (n=20), the OTiv group (n=8) and the EDA<sup>oT</sup> group (n=14) for each time point during the breastfeeding session.

#### Comments

Cortisol levels fell significantly during the breastfeeding session studied.

The reason for the transient, nonsignificant rise in cortisol levels seen during the first minutes of the breastfeeding session is unclear. It may be due to the fact that the mothers perceived the experimental situation as stressful, resulting in a rise of ACTH and, consequently, of cortisol levels. Alternatively, the rise in cortisol levels is a physiological response to skin-toskin contact and suckling. Cortisol may promote milk production by increasing the expression of the prolactin-responsive genes (Mizoguchi et al., 1997) and also by stimulating catabolic metabolism, as reported in other mammalian species, thereby allowing recruitment of nutrients for milk production (Svennersten-Sjaunja and Olsson, 2005).

The increased cortisol levels in women having received EDA combined with oxytocin infusions during labor may be an expression of an increased sensitivity to some types of stress as a result of the lowered function in their oxytocinergic system, both in the brain and in the circulation.

#### 4.2.3 Skin-to-skin contact

In the entire group of women, median cortisol levels correlated significantly negatively with the duration of skin-to-skin contact before onset of suckling; i.e., the longer the duration of skin-to-skin contact, the lower the median levels of cortisol (p=0.044).

In the OTim group, a longer duration of skin-to-skin contact before onset of suckling was associated with a more pronounced decrease in cortisol levels during the first 2.5 minutes (p=0.004).

In contrast, no relationships were noted between ACTH levels and duration of skin-to-skin contact.

#### Comments

Skin-to-skin contact before onset of suckling contributed to the decrease in maternal cortisol levels and oxytocin administered im postpartum facilitated this decrease.

The results indicate that part of the anti-stress effects induced by breastfeeding is induced by skin-to-skin contact preceding suckling of the breast.

The effects induced by skin-to-skin contact are probably mediated by oxytocinergic neurons emanating from the PVN that reach, for example, the amygdala, the PAG, the DMX, and the NTS.

# 4.3 Influence of common birth interventions on maternal blood pressure patterns during breastfeeding two days after birth (paper III)

Basal systolic blood pressure (SBP) before breastfeeding did not differ between the different study groups (Figures 16 - 18).

However, basal diastolic blood pressure (DBP) was significantly lower in the EDA<sup>non-OT</sup> group compared to the basal DBP in the Control group, the OT IV group and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (p=0.023, p=0.014 & p=0.011, respectively) (Figures 19-21).

Both SBP and DBP fell significantly in the control group, the OT im group, and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group, and almost significantly in the OT iv group during breastfeeding. In contrast, no decrease in either SBP or DBP was seen in the EDA<sup>non-OT</sup> group (for p-values, see paper III)(Figures 16-21).

In the OTim group, the duration of skin-to-skin contact before suckling was positively correlated with the fall in SBP occurring during the breastfeeding experiment (p=0.046); i.e., the longer the newborns lay in skin-to-skin contact with their mothers, the more the maternal SBP decreased.



*Figure 16.* The systolic blood pressure (SBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21) and the OTim group (n=15) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session.



*Figure 17.* The systolic blood pressure (SBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21), the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14 and the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group (n=7) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session



*Figure 18.* The systolic blood pressure (SBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21), OTiv group (n=9) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session



*Figure 19.* The diastolic blood pressure (DBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21) and the OTim group (n=15) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session



*Figure 20.* The diastolic blood pressure (DBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21), the EDA<sup>ord</sup> group (n=14) and the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> (n=7) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session





*Figure 21.* The diastolic blood pressure (DBP;mmHg) in the control group (n=21), the OTiv group (n=9) and the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group (n=14) during the 60 minute breastfeeding session

#### Comments

Breastfeeding two days post partum was associated with a decrease in maternal systolic and diastolic blood pressure for all mothers, except those who had received EDA alone during labor. This decrease in blood pressure is most likely due to the oxytocin released into the brain, reaching, for example, NTS and DMX during breastfeeding.

However, the mothers in the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group had significantly lower basal diastolic blood pressure compared to the other groups, which probably made it physiologically impossible for these mothers to decrease their blood pressure further.

The low basal blood pressure in the EDA<sup>non-OT</sup> group might be due to a sustained decrease in blood pressure induced by the EDA during labor. Alternatively, the influence on blood pressure could be related to maternal oxytocin levels.

#### 4.4 Short-term interaction between dogs and their owners – effects on oxytocin, cortisol, insulin and heart rate - an exploratory study (paper IV)

#### 4.4.1 The dogs

The dogs' oxytocin levels were significantly increased 3 minutes after start of dog-owner interaction (p=0.027), with peak oxytocin levels recorded between 1 and 5 minutes. These levels were significantly higher compared to the levels obtained before the interaction started (p=0.017) (Figure 22).

The dogs' cortisol levels were significantly increased 15 and 30 minutes after the start of the dog-owner interaction when compared to levels obtained before the interaction started (p=0.004 and p=0.022, respectively)(Figure 22).

The dogs' insulin levels did not change significantly during the experiment (Figure 22).

The dogs' heart rate decreased significantly at 55 minutes compared to the rate at the start of the interaction (p=0.008).

#### 4.4.2 The owners and controls

The owners' peak oxytocin levels recorded at 1, 3 or 5 minutes were significantly higher compared to the levels obtained before the interaction started (p=0.026) (Figure 23).

In contrast, no such effect was seen in the controls (p=0.417) (Figure 24).

The minimum cortisol levels recorded at 15 or 30 minutes in both the owners and controls were significantly decreased compared to the levels obtained before the interaction started (p=0.030 and p=0.002, respectively) (Figure 23 & 24).

In both owners and controls, a significant decrease in insulin levels was noted at 60 minutes (p=0.0018 and p<0.001, respectively) (Figure 23 & 24).

The owners' heart rate was significantly decreased at 55 and 60 minutes (p=0.0008 and p=0.0008, respectively).

In contrast, no change in heart rate was seen for the controls.



*Figure 22.* Changes in oxytocin, cortisol, and insulin levels at each time point (% of initial value based on non-transformed data) in ten dogs during the interaction.



*Figure 23.* Changes in oxytocin, cortisol, and insulin levels at each time point (% of initial value based on non-transformed data) in ten owners during the interaction.



*Figure 24.* Changes in oxytocin, cortisol, and insulin levels at each time point (% of initial value based on non-transformed data) in ten controls during the interaction.

#### Comments

Both dogs and owners displayed increasing oxytocin levels during the interaction, a response not seen in the controls, indicating that the increase was most likely induced by the dog-owner interaction.

The dogs' cortisol levels increased during the experiment, which was probably due to the increase in locomotor activity induced by the interaction with the owner.

Both owners and controls displayed decreasing cortisol levels during the experiment, but only owners displayed decreasing heart rate, suggesting that interaction with the dog might have induced an anti-stress effect in the owners.

The dogs' insulin levels did not change during the experiment, but insulin levels in both owners and controls decreased as time progressed. Since no control had been made for feeding, any effects caused by the sensory interaction might have been concealed by parallel feeding-related changes in glucose and insulin levels.

4.5 Associations between the psychological characteristics of the human-dog relationship and oxytocin and cortisol levels (paper V)

#### 4.5.1 Monash dog owner relationship scale

The mean score of the three subscales (Dog-owner interaction, Emotional closeness, and Perceived costs) were 4.1 (SD 0.4), 3.8 (SD 0.4) and 3.8 (SD 0.4), respectively, and the mean total score of MDORS was 4.0 (SE 0.4).

#### 4.5.2 Owners' oxytocin and cortisol levels

The higher the owners' oxytocin levels, the more often they kissed their dog (p=0.001) (Figure 25) and the less difficult they thought it was to look after their dog (p=0.085).

The lower the owners' cortisol levels, the less bothered they were about the dog stopping them from doing things, the more often they brought their dogs to visit people, and the more traumatic they thought it would be when their dog dies (p=0.037, p=0.044 and p=0.025, respectively).

#### 4.5.3 Dogs' oxytocin and cortisol levels

The higher the dogs' oxytocin levels, the more often the owners kissed their dog (Figure 26), the less often they gave their dog food treats, and the stronger was the bond to the dog (p=0.019, p=0.018 and p=0.033, respectively).

In addition, the higher the dogs' oxytocin levels, the lower the owners' perceived cost and the more positive evaluation of the relationship in total (p=0.007 and p=0.019, respectively). (Figure 27)

#### 4.5.4 Dogs' and their owners' hormone levels

The dogs' mean oxytocin levels obtained at 60 minutes correlated significantly positively, or tended to correlate significantly positively, with the owners' oxytocin levels obtained at each time point, as well as their mean oxytocin levels; i.e., the higher the dogs' oxytocin levels, the higher the owners' oxytocin levels (for p-values, see paper IV).



Figure 25. "How often do you kiss your dog?" The more often, the higher were the owners' oxytocin levels (p=0.001)



*Figure 26.* "How often do you kiss your dog?" The more often, the higher the dogs' oxytocin levels (p=0.019).



Figure 27. Perceived cost. The lower the cost, the higher the dogs' oxytocin levels (p=0.019).

#### Comments

The results from the correlation analysis indicate that high levels of oxytocin and low levels of cortisol in dog owners are related to the description of the owner-dog relationship as pleasant and interactive, as well as to a perception of the relationship having few problems.

In addition, the results also indicate that high levels of oxytocin in the dogs are related with increased interaction with the owner and with the owners not seeing the dogs as a burden, but as a positive companion.

The positive relationships between hormone levels in the owners and the dogs indicate a mutual relationship between dog owners and their dogs and that this relationship influences their oxytocin levels.

### 5 General discussion

# 5.1 Physiological responses to breastfeeding two days post partum – influence of medical interventions

#### 5.1.1 General response

The results from paper I-III show that during a breastfeeding session two days after birth, the mothers displayed a) an immediate and pulsatile release of oxytocin, b) a rise in prolactin levels, c) a decrease in ACTH and cortisol levels, and d) a decrease in systolic and diastolic blood pressure. These response patterns are in line with those reported in previous studies (Amico et al., 1994, Heinrichs et al., 2001, Jonas, 2008b, Nissen, 1996b).

In addition, some correlations between hormone levels were observed in the present study; median oxytocin and prolactin levels were positively correlated, median oxytocin and ACTH levels were negatively correlated and ACTH and cortisol levels were positively correlated.

Oxytocin has previously been shown to stimulate prolactin release (McKee et al., 2007, Samson et al., 1986). Oxytocin also decrease levels of CRF in the PVN (Neumann et al., 2000), resulting in decreased levels of ACTH and consequently cortisol. In addition, oxytocin exerts inhibitory effects directly on ACTH release in the anterior pituitary (Burbach et al., 2006) and on cortisol release by actions on the adrenal gland (Legros et al., 1988, Stachowiak et al., 1995). Oxytocin also decreases blood pressure, probably via activation of 2-adrenoreceptors in the NTS and adjacent areas in the brain stem involved in the control of the autonomic nervous system (Petersson et al., 2005a).

It is therefore likely that oxytocin released from oxytocinergic neurons during breastfeeding contribute to the increase in prolactin levels, the decrease of ACTH and cortisol levels, as well as the decrease in blood pressure observed during breastfeeding.

Taken together, these results show that oxytocin has a regulatory and integrating role in the response pattern observed during breastfeeding.

#### 5.1.2 Medical interventions during labor

EDA is the most common pharmacological option for efficient pain relief during labor. EDA may attenuate uterine activity (Anim-Somuah et al., 2005) and it is therefore often necessary to also administer oxytocin infusion in order to augment labor.

Oxytocin infusion given to initiate or augment labor increases uterine contractions. This is often related to increased pain, and therefore increasing the need for pain relief. Hence, EDA and oxytocin infusions are strongly connected during labor, irrespective of the order of these medical interventions.

Animal experiments have shown that peridural anesthesia block oxytocin release, both into the circulation and into the brain during labor, and hamper maternal behaviors (Krehbiel et al., 1987, Levy et al., 1992, Williams et al., 2001). In addition, EDA has been shown to counteract the release of oxytocin during labor in humans (Goodfellow et al., 1983, Rahm et al., 2002).

With the present study we wanted to investigate if the medical interventions mothers receive during labor affected the breastfeeding related effects.

#### 5.1.3 Effects of medical interventions

The results from papers I-III show that the maternal release patterns of oxytocin, prolactin, ACTH, and cortisol, as well as maternal blood pressure, in response to breastfeeding two days after birth, are affected by the medical interventions that the mothers received during labor (summarized in Table 2).

Mothers who received EDA alone during labor (EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group) had significantly lower basal systolic and diastolic blood pressure and no decrease in blood pressure in response to breastfeeding. These mothers also had significantly lower median cortisol levels compared to the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group. They also lacked the expected breastfeeding related rise in prolactin levels.

Mothers who received oxytocin infusion during labor (OTiv and EDA<sup>OT</sup> groups) had dose-dependent decreases in endogenous oxytocin levels two days later. They also had a faster rise in prolatin levels during the

breastfeeding session, compared to mothers who had not received exogenous oxytocin during labor.

In addition, the endogenous oxytocin levels for mothers who received EDA combined with oxytocin (EDA<sup>OT</sup> group) were significantly lower compared to the other treatment groups (EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> group and OTiv group).

Table 2. Summary of comparisons between the effects of medical interventions  $(EDA^{nomOT}, EDA^{OT} and OTiv groups)$  in response to breastfeeding two days after birth

Medical intervention during labor	Effects recorded two days later
EDA alone (EDA <sup>nonOT</sup> group)	Higher median oxytocin level compared with the EDA <sup>OT</sup> group (Figure 28)
	Decreases in ACTH and cortisol levels
	Lower median cortisol levels compared with the $EDA^{OT}$ group (Figure 29)
	Lower basal systolic and diastolic blood pressure compared to the EDA <sup>OT (</sup> Figures 30 and 31) and OTiv group
	No decrease in either systolic or diastolic blood pressure
	No increase in prolactin levels
EDA combined with oxytocin	Dose-dependent decrease in endogenous oxytocin levels
iv (EDA <sup>ot</sup> group)	Lower median oxytocin levels compared to the EDA <sup>nonOT</sup> (Figure 28) and OTiv group
	Decreases in ACTH and cortisol levels
	Higher median cortisol levels compared with the EDA <sup>nonOT</sup> group (Figure 29)
	Decreases in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure (Figures 30 and 31)
	More rapid increase in prolactin levels
Oxytocin iv	Dose-dependent decrease in endogenous oxytocin levels
(OTiv group)	Higher median oxytocin level compared to EDA <sup>ot</sup> group
	Decreases in ACTH and cortisol levels
	Decreases in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure
	More rapid increase in prolactin levels

61



Figure 28. Oxytocin levels in the  $EDA^{\text{nonOT}}$  and  $EDA^{\text{OT}}$  groups during the breastfeeding session studied



Figure 29. Cortisol levels in the EDA<sup>nonOT</sup> and EDA<sup>OT</sup> groups during the breastfeeding session studied



Figure 30. Systolic blood pressure in the  $EDA^{\text{nonOT}}$  and  $EDA^{\text{OT}}$  groups during the breastfeeding session studied



*Figure 31.* Diastolic blood pressure in the  $EDA^{\text{nonOT}}$  and  $EDA^{\text{OT}}$  groups during the breastfeeding session studied

#### 5.1.4 Oxytocin levels at labor and two days later

The first hours after birth are sometimes referred to as the "early sensitive period". It has been shown that sensory stimulation between mother and young during this period result in long-term sustained promotion of social interaction between mother and child (Kennell et al., 1975, Klaus et al., 1972). It also results in increased social interaction in both mother and child and reduced stress behavior in the child at one year (Bystrova et al., 2009).

The high levels of endogenous oxytocin during labor, and the following hours, may facilitate the positive social effects generated during the "early sensitive period".

The mothers who received EDA during labor did not display the normal physiological maternal adaptations, such as decrease in anxiety and increase in social interactive behaviors (Jonas, 2008a).

Animal experiments have shown that there is a parallel release of endogenous oxytocin into the brain and into the circulation in response to parturition and suckling (Kendrick et al., 1986) and that peridural anesthesia during labor decreases both peripheral and central oxytocin release during labor (Levy et al., 1992). Therefore, the absence of maternal psychological adaptations may be due to the low levels of oxytocin during this period.

The results from previous studies and those presented in paper I-III indicate that infusion of oxytocin during labor had two-fold effects. It increased expression of some of the maternal psychological adaptations occurring during the early sensitive period (Jonas, 2008a). This effect must have been induced in the brain and might have been due to stimulation of afferent nerves (the Ferguson reflex) during labor, leading to increased release of oxytocin in the brain during the early sensitive period.

However, infusion of oxytocin also induced a second type of effects. It induced a dose-dependent decrease of oxytocin levels, and if combined with EDA, decreased levels of endogenous oxytocin two days later. The decrease of endogenous oxytocin levels might have been a result of a feedback inhibition of endogenous oxytocin levels in response to the elevated oxytocin levels during labor.

It is likely that the decreased circulatory levels of oxytocin seen in the mothers in the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group are paralleled by decreased endogenous oxytocin levels also in the brain, for example the oxytocinergic pathway innervating the NTS. This would explain why mothers in the EDA<sup>OT</sup> group have higher cortisol levels (Figure 29) and higher blood pressure (Figures 30 and 31) during the breastfeeding session studied.

#### 5.1.5 Effects of skin-to-skin contact

The time the mother and infant spent in skin-to-skin contact before suckling was shown to affect the maternal decrease in cortisol levels and to some extent, the decrease in maternal blood pressure during breastfeeding two days after birth. This means that it is not only the suckling itself, but also the skin-to-skin contact during breastfeeding that contributes to the decrease in cortisol and blood pressure observed in response to breastfeeding.

As described in the introduction, skin-to-skin contact between mother and child induces maternal oxytocin release into the circulation (Matthiesen, 2001) and probably also into the brain. The finding of reduced blood pressure in response to skin-to-skin contact indicates that fibers in the NTS have been activated during skin-to-skin contact. Previous studies have also shown a relationship between higher oxytocin levels and lower blood pressure (Light et al., 2005, Light et al., 2000).

In addition, skin-to-skin contact reduced cortisol levels but not ACTH levels. This is in line with finding in cows where stroking of the abdominal area in front of a cows' udder decrease their cortisol levels without influencing their ACTH levels (Personal communication with Ewa Wredle). These results suggest that the decrease in cortisol levels is induced through a partly different mechanism compared to suckling, which involves a decrease in ACTH.

Perhaps a reduction of sympathetic nervous tone contributes to the decrease in cortisol secretion in response to skin-to-skin contact. The decrease in cortisol levels may also be due to an effect of catecholamines or peptides released from the adrenal medulla or from the sympathetic nerves innervating the adrenal cortex (Lightly et al., 1990, Nussdorfer, 1996). The finding of strong correlations between the fall in blood pressure and cortisol levels in response to skin-to-sin contact supports this (Handlin et al, to be published).

## 5.2 Physiological and psychological responses to interaction between dogs and their owners

#### 5.2.1 Response patterns

Reports have begun to emerge showing that oxytocin is released in both dogs and humans when they interact (Miller, 2009, Odendaal, 2003). The results from our study (paper IV) further support these findings.

Earlier studies involved practiced pre- and post measurements only of the physiological variables measured in connection interaction. In contrast, our study used repeated measurements throughout the entire experiment. Using this experimental set-up, we were able to show that oxytocin levels peak significantly in both owners and dogs when the owner strokes and caresses her dog. This response is immediate with a significant increase of oxytocin levels being observed within few minutes after start of interaction. When the interaction stops, oxytocin levels in both the owner and the dog return to basal levels within minutes.

These results are in line with previous experiments performed on rats, where gentle stroking on the abdomen induced a significant increase in oxytocin levels (Agren, 1995, Kurosawa, 1995, Stock, 1988, Uvnas-Moberg, 1996b).

Both owners and controls decreased their cortisol levels significantly during the experiment, probably as a consequence of recovery from the experimental stress. We had expected a difference in cortisol levels between owners and controls but it is often difficult to detect stress buffering effects in humans without having the participants go through a stress test prior to the intervention. The cortisol response might have differed between owners and controls if a stress test had been performed before the interaction.

In contrast to the observation in the owners, the dogs' cortisol levels increased during the interaction experiment. A similar result was also described in a study performed by Odendaal and colleagues (Odendaal, 2003). This increase is most likely a result of increased physical activity in response to the interaction and not an expression of stress.

The observation of decreased heart-rate in the dogs at the end of the experiment further strengthens the suggestion that the dogs were not stressed.

As described in the methods section, the owners completed the MDORS during the interaction experiment, in order to document the character of their relationships with their dogs. The results from the correlation analysis show a mutual relationship between owners and their dogs, where positive (or absence of negative) aspects of the relationship are linked to higher oxytocin levels in both species. In addition, frequent sensory interaction between dog-owners and their dogs was associated with higher oxytocin levels, both in the owners and in the dogs. However, the results from the present study do not allow conclusion on whether it is the increased interaction that generates the higher oxytocin levels or vice versa.

#### 5.2.2 Interaction between and within species

Previous studies have shown that non-noxious sensory stimulation associated with friendly social interaction, such as maternal behavior, pair bonding, and attachment is, linked to activation of the oxytocinergic system (Carter, 1998, Ditzen et al., 2007, Insel, 1998, Insel, 2003, Light et al., 2005, Uvanas-Moberg, 2005, Uvnas-Moberg, 1998b).

However, these studies have focused on interaction between individuals of the same species (e.g., humans, rats, sheep, prairie voles, etc.). The results from our study show that interaction between individuals from different species results in the same effects as previously observed within species. The assumption can be made, therefore, that the mechanisms in the oxytocinergic system and the effects that they cause are part of a "mammalian heritage" and can be activated not only by individuals from the same species but also by individuals from another species.

As mentioned in the introduction, humans and dogs have been living in close contact for a long time and dogs are bred for their keen senses and loyalty (Walsh, 2009a). Perhaps dogs and humans are therefore especially good at activating each others oxytocinergic systems.

#### 5.3 General mechanisms

#### 5.3.1 Acute and long term effects of interaction

The two studies included in this thesis investigated the acute effects of human-human and human-animal interaction. Both types of interaction induced anti-stress effects, displayed by decreasing ACTH, cortisol, and blood pressure in the mothers, and by decreased cortisol and heart rate in the dog owners. These effects are most likely due to a reduction of the activity in the HPA-axis and the sympathetic nervous system.

However, breastfeeding and dog-owner interaction normally occur repeatedly over a long period of time. Since each single interaction session stimulates oxytocin release, the repeated interactions will most likely result in repeated oxytocin release, both into the brain and into the circulation, in breastfeeding mothers, dog owners, dogs, and most likely also in the infants.

As mentioned in the introduction, repeated administration of oxytocin have been shown to induce several long-term effects, such as decreased blood pressure and cortisol levels and increased social interaction (Uvnas-Moberg and Petersson, 2005). In support of this, breastfeeding mothers have a blunted reaction to certain kinds of stress, as displayed by decreases in blood pressure, ACTH and cortisol levels and decreased anxiety (Altemus, 1995, Heinrichs et al., 2001, Light et al., 2000). Breastfeeding is also associated with a long-term decrease in basal blood pressure (Jonas, 2008b). Similarly, pets have been shown to have calming effects and give social support to pet-owners during stressful situations (Allen, 2001, Allen, 2002, Allen et al., 1991).

Both breastfeeding and owning a pet have also been associated with long-term health-promoting effects. For example, women who have given birth and who have breastfed have been shown to be "dose-dependently" protected from hypertension and from development of cardiovascular diseases (Lee et al., 2005, Schwarz et al., 2009, Stuebe et al., 2009). Similar effects are seen in pet owners where owning a pet is associated with lower heart rate and blood pressure (Allen, 2002) and a higher survival rate after a heart attack (Friedmann, 1995, Friedmann et al., 1980).

Taken together, it is possible that the repeated release of oxytocin in response to breastfeeding or interacting with a dog is a key coordinator for mediating the health promoting effects related to human-human and human-animal interactions.

#### 5.3.2 Relationship between oxytocin levels and interactive behaviors

Feldman and colleagues have shown that mothers with high oxytocin levels are more interactive with their children and also more sensitive to their children's cues (Feldman, 2007). In our study, we found a similar pattern, with more interaction between owner and dog being related to higher oxytocin levels. The relationship between a dog-owner and her dog has been found to show several similarities with that seen between a mother and her child (Palmer and Custance, 2008, Topal, 1998), indicating a possibility for the same type of relationship; i.e., dog owners with high oxytocin levels

may be more sensitive to their dogs' cues, just as mothers are to their children's.

#### 5.4 Methodological considerations

#### 5.4.1 Papers I-III

The number of participants in paper I-III is small. However, since the inclusion criteria were strict and procedures were standardized, we believe that important information can be obtained from these studies, as has been the case in other studies performed under similar conditions (Nissen, 1996a, Ransjo-Arvidson et al., 2001, Widstrom et al., 1990).

As described in the methods section, it is not possible to randomize a study of this kind for ethical reasons.

#### 5.4.2 Papers IV-V

The results from the present study should be interpreted with caution, since it is a pilot study with a limited number of participants.

However, since we were strict in only including female owners and male Labrador dogs, the variation due to breed and gender should be minimized. How the results apply to male owners and different breeds of dogs, however, needs to be further investigated.

### 6 Conclusion

In response to breastfeeding two days after birth, the mothers displayed a pulsatile release of oxytocin and increasing prolactin levels. In addition, the activity in the HPA-axis was reduced and maternal blood pressure decreased.

Oxytocin infusions given during labor were shown to dose-dependently decrease endogenous oxytocin levels two days later. Furthermore, EDA combined with oxytocin infusion during labor resulted in significantly lower oxytocin levels and higher cortisol levels, as well as higher blood pressure in response to breastfeeding two days after birth, compared to EDA administration alone.

Short term interaction between dog-owners and their dogs resulted in increasing oxytocin levels in both the owners and the dogs. The owners also displayed decreasing cortisol levels and heart rate, whereas the dog displayed increasing cortisol levels but decreasing heart rate.

There was a mutual relationship between owners and dogs oxytocin levels and oxytocin levels in both owners and dogs were related to a positive relationship between the two.

Although only acute effects were studied in the present thesis, repeated interactions between mothers and their infants, as well as between owners and their dogs, most likely give rise to long-term oxytocin-mediated effects in both species. This suggests that oxytocin may have an important coordinating and regulatory role for the health promoting effects associated with breastfeeding and pet-ownership.
## 7 Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Syftet med denna avhandling var att undersöka hormonella och fysiologiska förändringar hos nyblivna mammor i samband med amning och även hos hundägare och hundar under tiden de interagerar med varandra.

Sextio-sex nyblivna mammors nivåer av oxytocin, prolaktin, cortisol och ACTH och även deras blodtryck registrerades under att amningstillfälle två dagar efter förlossningen. I samband med förlossningen hade somliga av mammorna fått antingen oxytocin infusioner för att påskynda värkarbetet och/eller epiduralbedövning (EDA) för smärtlindring.

I samband med amning två dagar senare hade de nyblivna mammorna en pulsatil frisättning av oxytocin och stigande prolaktinnivåer. I samband med amningen sjönk också deras nivåer av ACTH och cortisol och även deras blodtryck, vilket visade att amning har antistresseffekter. Mammor som fått oxytocin infusioner under värkarbetet visades ha dosberoende sänkta kroppsegna nivåer av oxytocin. Hade de dessutom fått EDA hade de också signifikant lägre oxytocin nivåer och signifikant högre cortisol nivåer och blodtryck jämfört med de mammor som fått enbart EDA under värkarbetet.

I den andra studien fick tio kvinnliga labrador- ägare umgås med sina hundar och både hundägarnas och hundarnas nivåer av oxytocin, kortisol, insulin och även deras puls registrerades under försöket. Resultaten visade att oxytocinnivåerna steg signifikant i både hundarna och deras ägare under tiden de interagerade med varandra. Hos både ägare och hundar sjönk pulsen under tiden de umgicks och hos ägarna sjönk även cortisol nivåerna.

Sammanfattningsvis visar resultaten i denna avhandling att effekterna av interaktion människor emellan, men också mellan människor och djur, uppvisar stora likheter. Båda typer av interaktion framkallar oxytocinfrisättning och oxytocin-relaterade effekter. sänkta som cortisolnivåer och sänkt blodtryck men också ökad social interaktion. Dessa

likheter beror antagligen på ett reaktionsmönster som verkar vara gemensamt för de flesta däggdjur.

## 8 References

- AGREN, G., LUNDEBERG, T., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., SATO, A. (1995) The oxytocin antagonist 1-deamino-2-D-Tyr-(Oet)-4-Thr-8-Orn-oxytocin reverses the increase in the withdrawal response latency to thermal, but not mechanical nociceptive stimuli following oxytocin administration or massage-like stroking in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 187, 49-52.
- ALLEN, K., BLASCOVICH, J., MENDES, W, B. (2002) Cardiovascular reactivity and the presence of pets, friends, and spouses: the truth about cats and dogs. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 64, 727-39.
- ALLEN, K., SHYKOFF, B, E., IZZO, J, L, JR. (2001) Pet ownership, but not ace inhibitor therapy, blunts home blood pressure responses to mental stress. *Hypertension*, 38, 815-20.
- ALLEN, K. M., BLASCOVICH, J., TOMAKA, J. & KELSEY, R. M. (1991) Presence of human friends and pet dogs as moderators of autonomic responses to stress in women. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, 61, 582-9.
- ALTEMUS, M. D., P. A. GALLIVEN, E. CARTER, C. S. GOLD, P. W. (1995) Suppression of hypothalmic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to stress in lactating women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 80, 2954–9.
- AMICO, J. A., CAI, H. M. & VOLLMER, R. R. (2008) Corticosterone release in oxytocin gene deletion mice following exposure to psychogenic versus non-psychogenic stress. *Neurosci Lett*, 442, 262-6.
- AMICO, J. A. & HEMPEL, J. (1990) An oxytocin precursor intermediate circulates in the plasma of humans and rhesus monkeys administered estrogen. *Neuroendocrinology*, 51, 437-43.
- AMICO, J. A., JOHNSTON, J. M. & VAGNUCCI, A. H. (1994) Suckling-induced attenuation of plasma cortisol concentrations in postpartum lactating women. *Endocr Res*, 20, 79-87.
- AMICO, J. A., MANTELLA, R. C., VOLLMER, R. R., LI, X. (2004) Anxiety and stress responses in female oxytocin deficient mice. Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 16, 319-24.

- ANIM-SOMUAH, M., SMYTH, R. & HOWELL, C. (2005) Epidural versus non-epidural or no analgesia in labour. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD000331.
- ARAKI, T., ITO, K., KUROSAWA, M., SATO, A. (1984) Responses of adrenal sympathetic nerve activity and catecholamine secretion to cutaneous stimulation in anesthetized rats. *Neuroscience*, 12, 289–99.
- ARLETTI, R., BAZZANI, C., CASTELLI, M. & BERTOLINI, A. (1985) Oxytocin improves male copulatory performance in rats. *Horm Behav*, 19, 14–20.
- BASKERVILLE, T. A. & DOUGLAS, A. J. (2010) Dopamine and oxytocin interactions underlying behaviors: potential contributions to behavioral disorders. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, 16, e92-123.
- BRAUN, T., HECHTER, O. & RUDINGER, J. (1969) "Insulin-like" action of oxytocin: evidence for separate oxytocin-sensitive and insulin-sensitive systems in fat cells. *Endocrinology*, 85, 1092-6.
- BUIJS, R. M., DE VRIES, G. J. & VAN LEEUWEN, F. W. (1985) *The distribution and synaptic release of oxytocin in the central nervous system* Amsterdam, Elsevier Science Publishers BV.
- BURBACH, J. P. H., YOUNG, L. J. & RUSSELL, J. A. (2006) Oxytocin: Synthesis, Secretion and Reproductive Functions. *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction.* 3 ed., Elsevier.
- BYSTROVA, K., IVANOVA, V., EDHBORG, M., MATTHIESEN, A. S., RANSJO-ARVIDSON, A. B., MUKHAMEDRAKHIMOV, R., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. & WIDSTROM, A. M. (2009) Early contact versus separation: effects on mother-infant interaction one year later. *Birth*, 36, 97-109.
- CALDWELL, J. D., PRANGE, A. J., JR. & PEDERSEN, C. A. (1986) Oxytocin facilitates the sexual receptivity of estrogen-treated female rats. *Neuropeptides*, **7**, 175-89.
- CARTER, C. S. (1998) Neuroendocrine perspectives on social attachment and love. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 23, 779-818.
- CHAMPAGNE, F. A. & MEANEY, M. J. (2007) Transgenerational effects of social environment on variations in maternal care and behavioral response to novelty. *Behav Neurosci*, 121, 1353-63.
- CLODI, M., VILA, G., GEYEREGGER, R., RIEDL, M., STULNIG, T. M., STRUCK, J., LUGER, T. A. & LUGER, A. (2008) Oxytocin alleviates the neuroendocrine and cytokine response to bacterial endotoxin in healthy men. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 295, E686-91.
- CROWLEY, W. R., PARKER, S. L., ARMSTRONG, W. E., WANG, W. & GROSVENOR, C. E. (1991) Excitatory and inhibitory dopaminergic regulation of oxytocin secretion in the lactating rat: evidence for respective mediation by D-1 and D-2 dopamine receptor subtypes. *Neuroendocrinology*, 53, 493-502.

- DALE, H. H. (1909) The Action of Extracts of the Pituitary Body. *Biochem J*, 4, 427-47.
- DITZEN, B., NEUMANN, I. D., BODENMANN, G., VON DAWANS, B., TURNER, R. A., EHLERT, U. & HEINRICHS, M. (2007) Effects of different kinds of couple interaction on cortisol and heart rate responses to stress in women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32, 565-74.
- DOMES, G., HEINRICHS, M., GLASCHER, J., BUCHEL, C., BRAUS, D. F. & HERPERTZ, S. C. (2007) Oxytocin attenuates amygdala responses to emotional faces regardless of valence. *Biol Psychiatry*, 62, 1187-90.
- FELDMAN, R., WELLER, A., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O., LEVINE, A. (2007) Evidence for a neuroendocrinological foundation of human affiliation: plasma oxytocin levels across pregnancy and the postpartum period predict mother-infant bonding. *Psychol Sci*, 18, 965–70.
- FREUND-MERCIER, M. J. & RICHARD, P. (1984) Electrophysiological evidence for facilitatory control of oxytocin neurones by oxytocin during suckling in the rat. J Physiol, 352, 447-66.
- FRIEDMANN, E., KATCHER, A., LYNCH, J. & THOMAS, S. (1980) Animal companions and one year survival of patients after discharge from a coronary care unit. *Public Health Reports*, 95, 307-312.
- FRIEDMANN, E., THOMAS, S. A. (1995) Pet ownership, social support, and one-year survival after acute myocardial infarction in the Cardiac Arrhythmia Suppression Trial (CAST). *American Journal of Cardiology*, 76, 1213-7.
- FRIEDMANN, E. & TSAI, C.-C. (2006) The animal-human bond: Health and wellness. IN FINE, A. (Ed.) *Animal-assisted therapy: Theoretical foundations and practice guidelines.* 2 ed. San Diego, Academic Press.
- GEISLER, A. M. (2004) Companion animals in palliative care: stories from the bedside. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care*, 21, 285-8.
- GIMPL, G. & FAHRENHOLZ, F. (2001) The oxytocin receptor system: structure, function, and regulation. *Physiol Rev*, 81, 629-83.
- GIMPL, G., REITZ, J., BRAUER, S. & TROSSEN, C. (2008) Oxytocin receptors: ligand binding, signalling and cholesterol dependence. *Prog Brain Res*, 170, 193-204.
- GOODFELLOW, C. F., HULL, M. G., SWAAB, D. F., DOGTEROM, J. & BUIJS, R. M. (1983) Oxytocin deficiency at delivery with epidural analgesia. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 90, 214–9.
- GOUIN, J. P., CARTER, C. S., POURNAJAFI-NAZARLOO, H., GLASER, R., MALARKEY, W. B., LOVING, T. J., STOWELL, J. & KIECOLT-GLASER, J. K. (2010) Marital behavior, oxytocin, vasopressin, and wound healing. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35, 1082-90.

- GUASTELLA, A. J., MITCHELL, P. B. & DADDS, M. R. (2008a) Oxytocin increases gaze to the eye region of human faces. *Biol Psychiatry*, 63, 3-5.
- GUASTELLA, A. J., MITCHELL, P. B. & MATHEWS, F. (2008b) Oxytocin enhances the encoding of positive social memories in humans. *Biol Psychiatry*, 64, 256-8.
- HATTON, G. I. & TWEEDLE, C. D. (1982) Magnocellular neuropeptidergic neurons in hypothalamus: increases in membrane apposition and number of specialized synapses from pregnancy to lactation. *Brain Res Bull*, 8, 197-204.
- HATTORI, T., MORRIS, M., ALEXANDER, N. & SUNDBERG, D. K. (1990) Extracellular oxytocin in the paraventricular nucleus: hyperosmotic stimulation by in vivo microdialysis. *Brain Res*, 506, 169-71.
- HEINRICHS, M., BAUMGARTNER, T., KIRSCHBAUM, C., EHLERT, U. (2003) Social support and oxytocin interact to suppress cortisol and subjective responses to psychosocial stress. *Biol Psychiatry*, 54, 1389-98.
- HEINRICHS, M., MEINLSCHMIDT, G., NEUMANN, I., WAGNER,
  S., KIRSCHBAUM, C., EHLERT, U. & HELLHAMMER, D.
  H. (2001) Effects of suckling on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to psychosocial stress in postpartum lactating women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 86, 4798-804.
- HERGOVICH, A., MONSHI, BARDIA., SEMMLER, GABRIELE., ZIEGLMAYER, VERENA (2002) The effects of the presence of a dog in the classroom *Anthrozoos*, 15, 37-50.
- HOLLANDER, E., BARTZ, J., CHAPLIN, W., PHILLIPS, A., SUMNER, J., SOORYA, L., ANAGNOSTOU, E. & WASSERMAN, S. (2007) Oxytocin increases retention of social cognition in autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, 61, 498-503.
- HOLST, S., LUND, I., PETERSSON, M., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2005) Massage-like stroking influences plasma levels of gastrointestinal hormones, including insulin, and increases weight gain in male rats. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 120, 73-9.
- HOLST, S., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., PETERSSON, M. (2002) Postnatal oxytocin treatment and postnatal stroking of rats reduce blood pressure in adulthood. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 99, 85-90.
- INSEL, T. R. (2003) Is social attachment an addictive disorder? *Physiol Behav*, 79, 351-7.
- INSEL, T. R., WINSLOW, J. T., WANG, Z., YOUNG, L. J. (1998) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and the neuroendocrine basis of pair bond formation. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 449, 215-24.
- JOHNSON, R. A., MEADOWS, R. L., HAUBNER, J. S. & SEVEDGE, K. (2003) Human-Animal Interaction : A
- 78

Complementary/Alternative Medical (CAM) Intervention for Cancer Patients. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 47, 55-69.

- JONAS, W., NISSEN, E., RANSJO-ARVIDSON, A. B., MATTHIESEN, A. S., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2008a) Influence of oxytocin or epidural analgesia on personality profile in breastfeeding women: a comparative study. *Arch Womens Ment Health*, 11, 335-45.
- JONAS, W., NISSEN, E., RANSJO-ARVIDSON, A. B., WIKLUND, I., HENRIKSSON, P., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2008b) Short- and long-term decrease of blood pressure in women during breastfeeding. *Breastfeeding Medicine*, **3**, 103–9.
- KENDRICK, K. M., KEVERNE, E. B. & BALDWIN, B. A. (1987) Intracerebroventricular oxytocin stimulates maternal behaviour in the sheep. *Neuroendocrinology*, 46, 56-61.
- KENDRICK, K. M., KEVERNE, E. B., BALDWIN, B. A. & SHARMAN, D. F. (1986) Cerebrospinal fluid levels of acetylcholinesterase, monoamines and oxytocin during labour, parturition, vaginocervical stimulation, lamb separation and suckling in sheep. *Neuroendocrinology*, 44, 149-56.
- KENDRICK, K. M., KEVERNE, E. B., CHAPMAN, C. & BALDWIN, B. A. (1988) Intracranial dialysis measurement of oxytocin, monoamine and uric acid release from the olfactory bulb and substantia nigra of sheep during parturition, suckling, separation from lambs and eating. *Brain Res*, 439, 1-10.
- KENNELL, J. H., TRAUSE, M. A. & KLAUS, M. H. (1975) Evidence for a sensitive period in the human mother. *Ciba Found Symp*, 87-101.
- KEVERNE, E. B. & KENDRICK, K. M. (1991) Morphine and corticotrophin-releasing factor potentiate maternal acceptance in multiparous ewes after vaginocervical stimulation. *Brain Res*, 540, 55-62.
- KEVERNE, E. B. & KENDRICK, K. M. (1992) Oxytocin facilitation of maternal behavior in sheep. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 652, 83-101.
- KEVERNE, E. B. & KENDRICK, K. M. (1994) Maternal behaviour in sheep and its neuroendocrine regulation. *Acta Paediatr Suppl*, 397, 47-56.
- KIRSCH, P., ESSLINGER, C., CHEN, Q., MIER, D., LIS, S., SIDDHANTI, S., GRUPPE, H., MATTAY, V. S., GALLHOFER, B. & MEYER-LINDENBERG, A. (2005) Oxytocin modulates neural circuitry for social cognition and fear in humans. J Neurosci, 25, 11489-93.
- KLAUS, M. H., JERAULD, R., KREGER, N. C., MCALPINE, W., STEFFA, M. & KENNEL, J. H. (1972) Maternal attachment. Importance of the first post-partum days. *N Engl J Med*, 286, 460-3.

- KOSFELD, M., HEINRICHS, M., ZAK, P. J., FISCHBACHER, U., FEHR, E. (2005) Oxytocin increases trust in humans. *Nature*, 435, 673-6.
- KOTRSCHAL, K., ORTBAUER (2003) Behavioural effects of the presence of a dog in the classroom. *Anthrozoös*, 16, 147-159.
- KREHBIEL, D., POINDRON, P., LEVY, F. & PRUD'HOMME, M. J. (1987) Peridural anesthesia disturbs maternal behavior in primiparous and multiparous parturient ewes. *Physiol Behav*, 40, 463-72.
- KUROSAWA, M., LUNDEBERG, T., AGREN, G., LUND, I., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1995) Massage-like stroking of the abdomen lowers blood pressure in anesthetized rats: influence of oxytocin. *Journal of the Autonomic Nervous System*, 56, 26-30.
- KUROSAWA, M., SUZUKI, A., UTSUGI, K., ARAKI, T. (1982) Response of adrenal efferent nerve activity to non-noxious mechanical stimulation of the skin in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 34, 295-300.
- LEE, S. Y., KIM, M. T., JEE, S. H. & YANG, H. P. (2005) Does longterm lactation protect premenopausal women against hypertension risk? A Korean women's cohort study. *Prev Med*, 41, 433-8.
- LEGROS, J. J., CHIODERA, P. & GEENEN, V. (1988) Inhibitory action of exogenous oxytocin on plasma cortisol in normal human subjects: evidence of action at the adrenal level. *Neuroendocrinology*, 48, 204-6.
- LENG, G., MEDDLE, S. L. & DOUGLAS, A. J. (2008) Oxytocin and the maternal brain. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 8, 731-4.
- LEVINE, A., ZAGOORY-SHARON, O., FELDMAN, R. & WELLER, A. (2007) Oxytocin during pregnancy and early postpartum: Individual patterns and maternal-fetal attachment. *Peptides*, 28, 1162-9.
- LEVY, F., KENDRICK, K. M., KEVERNE, E. B., PIKETTY, V. & POINDRON, P. (1992) Intracerebral oxytocin is important for the onset of maternal behavior in inexperienced ewes delivered under peridural anesthesia. *Behav Neurosci*, 106, 427-32.
- LIGHT, K. C., GREWEN, K. M. & AMICO, J. A. (2005) More frequent partner hugs and higher oxytocin levels are linked to lower blood pressure and heart rate in premenopausal women. *Biol Psychol*, 69, 5-21.
- LIGHT, K. C., SMITH, T. E., JOHNS, J. M., BROWNLEY, K. A., HOFHEIMER, J. A. & AMICO, J. A. (2000) Oxytocin responsivity in mothers of infants: a preliminary study of relationships with blood pressure during laboratory stress and normal ambulatory activity. *Health Psychol*, 19, 560-7.
- LIGHTLY, E. R., WALKER, S. W., BIRD, I. M. & WILLIAMS, B. C. (1990) Subclassification of beta-adrenoceptors responsible for
- 80

steroidogenesis in primary cultures of bovine adrenocortical zona fasciculata/reticularis cells. *Br J Pharmacol*, 99, 709-12.

- LOKEN, L. S., WESSBERG, J., MORRISON, I., MCGLONE, F. & OLAUSSON, H. (2009) Coding of pleasant touch by unmyelinated afferents in humans. *Nat Neurosci*, 12, 547-8.
- LUDWIG, M. & LENG, G. (2006) Dendritic peptide release and peptidedependent behaviours. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 7, 126-36.
- LUND, I., GE, Y., YU, L. C., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., WANG, J., YU, C., KUROSAWA, M., AGREN, G., ROSEN, A., LEKMAN, M., LUNDEBERG, T. (2002) Repeated massage-like stimulation induces long-term effects on nociception: contribution of oxytocinergic mechanisms. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 16, 330-8.
- MANIMALIS (2009) Manimalisrapporten 2009.
- MATTHIESEN, A. S., RANSJO-ARVIDSON, A. B., NISSEN, E., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2001) Postpartum maternal oxytocin release by newborns: effects of infant hand massage and sucking. *Birth*, 28, 13-9.
- MCKEE, D. T., POLETINI, M. O., BERTRAM, R. & FREEMAN, M. E. (2007) Oxytocin action at the lactotroph is required for prolactin surges in cervically stimulated ovariectomized rats. *Endocrinology*.
- MILLER, S., C., KENNEDY, C., DEVOE, D., HICKEY, M., NELSON, T., KOGAN, L (2009) An Examination of changes in oxytocin Levels in men and women before and after interaction with a bonded dog. *Anthrozoös*, 22, 31-42.
- MIZOGUCHI, Y., YAMAGUCHI, H., AOKI, F., ENAMI, J. & SAKAI, S. (1997) Corticosterone is required for the prolactin receptor gene expression in the late pregnant mouse mammary gland. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 132, 177-83.
- MOOS, F., FREUND-MERCIER, M. J., GUERNE, Y., GUERNE, J. M., STOECKEL, M. E. & RICHARD, P. (1984) Release of oxytocin and vasopressin by magnocellular nuclei in vitro: specific facilitatory effect of oxytocin on its own release. *J Endocrinol*, 102, 63-72.
- MORMEDE, P., ANDANSON, S., AUPERIN, B., BEERDA, B., GUEMENE, D., MALMKVIST, J., MANTECA, X., MANTEUFFEL, G., PRUNET, P., VAN REENEN, C. G., RICHARD, S. & VEISSIER, I. (2007) Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate animal welfare. *Physiol Behav*, 92, 317-39.
- NEUMANN, I. D. (2008) Brain oxytocin: a key regulator of emotional and social behaviours in both females and males. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 20, 858-65.
- NEUMANN, I. D., WIGGER, A., TORNER, L., HOLSBOER, F. & LANDGRAF, R. (2000) Brain oxytocin inhibits basal and stress-

induced activity of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis in male and female rats: partial action within the paraventricular nucleus. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 12, 235-43.

- NISSEN, E. (1996a) Effects of some ward routines on behavioural and physiological adaptation to breast-feeding. Stockholm, Karolinska Institutet.
- NISSEN, E., GUSTAVSSON, P., WIDSTROM, A. M., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1998) Oxytocin, prolactin, milk production and their relationship with personality traits in women after vaginal delivery or Cesarean section. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol*, 19, 49-58.
- NISSEN, E., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., SVENSSON, K., STOCK, S., WIDSTROM, A. M., WINBERG, J. (1996b) Different patterns of oxytocin, prolactin but not cortisol release during breastfeeding in women delivered by caesarean section or by the vaginal route. *Early Human Development*, 45, 103-18.
- NUSSDORFER, G. G. (1996) Paracrine control of adrenal cortical function by medullary chromaffin cells. *Pharmacol Rev*, 48, 495-530.
- ODENDAAL, J. S., MEINTJES, R. A. (2003) Neurophysiological correlates of affiliative behaviour between humans and dogs. *The Veterinary Journal*, 165, 296-301.
- OHLSSON, B., TRUEDSSON, M., BENGTSSON, M., TORSTENSON, R., SJOLUND, K., BJORNSSON, E. S. & SIMREN, M. (2005) Effects of long-term treatment with oxytocin in chronic constipation; a double blind, placebo-controlled pilot trial. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 17, 697-704.
- PALMER, R. & CUSTANCE, D. (2008) A counterblanced version of Ainsworth's strange situation procedure reveals secure-base effects in dog-human relationships. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 109, 306-319.
- PEDERSEN, C. A., ASCHER, J. A., MONROE, Y. L. & PRANGE, A. J., JR. (1982) Oxytocin induces maternal behavior in virgin female rats. *Science*, 216, 648-50.
- PEDERSEN, C. A. & PRANGE, A. J., JR. (1979) Induction of maternal behavior in virgin rats after intracerebroventricular administration of oxytocin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 76, 6661-5.
- PETERSSON, M., ALSTER, P., LUNDEBERG, T. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1996) Oxytocin increases nociceptive thresholds in a long-term perspective in female and male rats. *Neurosci Lett*, 212, 87-90.
- PETERSSON, M., DIAZ-CABIALE, Z., ANGEL NARVAEZ, J., FUXE, K. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2005a) Oxytocin increases the density of high affinity alpha(2)-adrenoceptors within the hypothalamus, the amygdala and the nucleus of the solitary tract in ovariectomized rats. *Brain Res*, 1049, 234-9.
- 82

- PETERSSON, M., EKLUND, M. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2005b) Oxytocin decreases corticosterone and nociception and increases motor activity in OVX rats. *Maturitas*, 51, 426-33.
- PETERSSON, M., HULTING, A. L., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1999a) Oxytocin causes a sustained decrease in plasma levels of corticosterone in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 264, 41-4.
- PETERSSON, M., HULTING, A., ANDERSSON, R., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1999b) Long-term changes in gastrin, cholecystokinin and insulin in response to oxytocin treatment. *Neuroendocrinology*, 69, 202-8.
- PETERSSON, M., LUNDEBERG, T. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1999) Short-term increase and long-term decrease of blood pressure in response to oxytocin-potentiating effect of female steroid hormones. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*, 33, 102-8.
- PETERSSON, M., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., ERHARDT, S. & ENGBERG, G. (1998) Oxytocin increases locus coeruleus alpha 2adrenoreceptor responsiveness in rats. *Neurosci Lett*, 255, 115-8.
- PETERSSON, M., WIBERG, U., LUNDEBERG, T. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2001) Oxytocin decreases carrageenan induced inflammation in rats. *Peptides*, 22, 1479-84.
- POULAIN, D. A. & WAKERLEY, J. B. (1982) Electrophysiology of hypothalamic magnocellular neurones secreting oxytocin and vasopressin. *Neuroscience*, **7**, 773-808.
- RAHM, V. A., HALLGREN, A., HOGBERG, H., HURTIG, I. & ODLIND, V. (2002) Plasma oxytocin levels in women during labor with or without epidural analgesia: a prospective study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*, 81, 1033-9.
- RANSJO-ARVIDSON, A. B., MATTHIESEN, A. S., LILJA, G., NISSEN, E., WIDSTROM, A. M. & UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (2001) Maternal analgesia during labor disturbs newborn behavior: effects on breastfeeding, temperature, and crying. *Birth*, 28, 5-12.
- RICHARD, P., MOOS, F., FREUND-MERCIER, M. J. (1991) Central effects of oxytocin. *Physiological Reviews*, 71, 331-70.
- RIMMELE, U., HEDIGER, K., HEINRICHS, M. & KLAVER, P. (2009) Oxytocin makes a face in memory familiar. *J Neurosci*, 29, 38-42.
- RUSSELL, J. A., GOSDEN, R. G., HUMPHREYS, E. M., CUTTING, R., FITZSIMONS, N., JOHNSTON, V., LIDDLE, S., SCOTT, S. & STIRLAND, J. A. (1989) Interruption of parturition in rats by morphine: a result of inhibition of oxytocin secretion. *J Endocrinol*, 121, 521-36.
- SAMSON, W. K., LUMPKIN, M. D. & MCCANN, S. M. (1986) Evidence for a physiological role for oxytocin in the control of prolactin secretion. *Endocrinology*, 119, 554-60.
- SAPOLOSKY, R. M. (2002) Endocrinology of the Stress-Response. IN JILL B. BECKER, S. M. B., DAVID CREWS, MARGARET M.

MCCARTHY (Ed.) Behavioral Endocrinology. Cambridge, The MIT Press.

- SCHUMACHER, M., COIRINI, H., JOHNSON, A. E., FLANAGAN, L. M., FRANKFURT, M., PFAFF, D. W. & MCEWEN, B. S. (1993) The oxytocin receptor: a target for steroid hormones. *Regul Pept*, 45, 115-9.
- SCHWARZ, E. B., RAY, R. M., STUEBE, A. M., ALLISON, M. A., NESS, R. B., FREIBERG, M. S. & CAULEY, J. A. (2009) Duration of lactation and risk factors for maternal cardiovascular disease. *Obstet Gynecol*, 113, 974–82.
- STACHOWIAK, A., MACCHI, C., NUSSDORFER, G. G. & MALENDOWICZ, L. K. (1995) Effects of oxytocin on the function and morphology of the rat adrenal cortex: in vitro and in vivo investigations. *Res Exp Med (Berl)*, 195, 265-74.
- STANCAMPIANO, R., MELIS, M. R. & ARGIOLAS, A. (1991) Proteolytic conversion of oxytocin by brain synaptic membranes: role of aminopeptidases and endopeptidases. *Peptides*, 12, 1119-25.
- STOCK, S., UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1988) Increased plasma levels of oxytocin in response to afferent electrical stimulation of the sciatic and vagal nerves and in response to touch and pinch in anaesthetized rats. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica*, 132, 29-34.
- STUEBE, A. M., MICHELS, K. B., WILLETT, W. C., MANSON, J. E., REXRODE, K. & RICH-EDWARDS, J. W. (2009) Duration of lactation and incidence of myocardial infarction in middle to late adulthood. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 200, 138 e1-8.
- SVENNERSTEN-SJAUNJA, K. & OLSSON, K. (2005) Endocrinology of milk production. *Domest Anim Endocrinol*, 29, 241-58.
- SZETO, A., NATION, D. A., MENDEZ, A. J., DOMINGUEZ-BENDALA, J., BROOKS, L. G., SCHNEIDERMAN, N. & MCCABE, P. M. (2008) Oxytocin attenuates NADPH-dependent superoxide activity and IL-6 secretion in macrophages and vascular cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 295, E1495-501.
- THEODOSIS, D. T. (2002) Oxytocin-secreting neurons: A physiological model of morphological neuronal and glial plasticity in the adult hypothalamus. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 23, 101-35.
- THEODOSIS, D. T., CHAPMAN, D. B., MONTAGNESE, C., POULAIN, D. A. & MORRIS, J. F. (1986) Structural plasticity in the hypothalamic supraoptic nucleus at lactation affects oxytocin-, but not vasopressin-secreting neurones. *Neuroscience*, **17**, 661-78.
- TOPAL, J., MIKLOSI, A., CSANYI, V., DOKA, A. (1998) Attachment behavior in dogs (Canis familiaris): a new application of Ainsworth's (1969) Strange Situation Test. *J Comp Psychol*, 112, 219-29.
- TRIBOLLET, E., CLARKE, G., DREIFUSS, J. J. & LINCOLN, D. W. (1978) The role of central adrenergic receptors in the reflex release of oxytocin. *Brain Res*, 142, 69-84.

- TSUCHIYA, T., NAKAYAMA, Y. & SATO, A. (1991) Somatic afferent regulation of plasma corticosterone in anesthetized rats. *Jpn J Physiol*, 41, 169-76.
- UVANAS-MOBERG, K., ARN, I., MAGNUSSON, D. (2005) The psychobiology of emotion: the role of the oxytocinergic system. *Int J Behav Med*, 12, 59-65.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1994a) Role of efferent and afferent vagal nerve activity during reproduction: integrating function of oxytocin on metabolism and behaviour. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 19, 687–95.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1996a) Neuroendocrinology of the mother-child interaction. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM*, **7**, 126-31.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1998a) Antistress Pattern Induced by Oxytocin. News Physiol Sci, 13, 22-25.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K. (1998b) Oxytocin may mediate the benefits of positive social interaction and emotions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 23, 819-35.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., AHLENIUS, S., HILLEGAART, V., ALSTER, P. (1994b) High doses of oxytocin cause sedation and low doses cause an anxiolytic-like effect in male rats. *Pharmacology, biochemistry, and behavior,* 49, 101-6.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., ALSTER, P., HILLEGAART, V. & AHLENIUS, S. (1995) Suggestive evidence for a DA D3 receptormediated increase in the release of oxytocin in the male rat. *Neuroreport*, **6**, 1338-40.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., ALSTER, P., PETERSSON, M., SOHLSTROM, A. & BJORKSTRAND, E. (1998) Postnatal oxytocin injections cause sustained weight gain and increased nociceptive thresholds in male and female rats. *Pediatr Res*, 43, 344-8.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., ALSTER, P., LUND, I., LUNDEBERG, T., KUROSAWA, M., AHLENIUS, S. (1996b) Stroking of the abdomen causes decreased locomotor activity in conscious male rats. *Physiology and Behavior*, 60, 1409-11.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., BRUZELIUS, G., ALSTER, P., BILEVICIUTE, I. & LUNDEBERG, T. (1992) Oxytocin increases and a specific oxytocin antagonist decreases pain threshold in male rats. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 144, 487-8.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K., BRUZELIUS, G., ALSTER, P. & LUNDEBERG, T. (1993) The antinociceptive effect of nonnoxious sensory stimulation is mediated partly through oxytocinergic mechanisms. *Acta Physiol Scand*, 149, 199-204.
- UVNAS-MOBERG, K. & PETERSSON, M. (2005) [Oxytocin, a mediator of anti-stress, well-being, social interaction, growth and healing]. Z Psychosom Med Psychother, 51, 57-80.

- UVNÄS-MOBERG, K., HANDLIN, L., PETERSSON, M (2011)
  Promises and pitfalls of hormone research in human-animal interaction. IN MACCARDLE, P., MCCUNE, S., GRIFFIN, J, A., MAHOLMES, V (Ed.) How animal effects us - examining the influence of Human-animal interaction on child development and human health. Washington, the American Psychological Association.
- VALLBO, A. B., OLAUSSON, H. & WESSBERG, J. (1999) Unmyelinated afferents constitute a second system coding tactile stimuli of the human hairy skin. J Neurophysiol, 81, 2753-63.
- WALSH, F. (2009a) Human-animal bonds I: the relational significance of companion animals. *Fam Process*, 48, 462-80.
- WALSH, F. (2009b) Human-animal bonds II: the role of pets in family systems and family therapy. *Fam Process*, 48, 481-99.
- VANDESANDE, F. & DIERICKX, K. (1975) Identification of the vasopressin producing and of the oxytocin producing neurons in the hypothalamic magnocellular neurosecretroy system of the rat. *Cell Tissue Res*, 164, 153-62.
- WIDSTROM, A. M., WAHLBERG, V., MATTHIESEN, A. S., ENEROTH, P., UVNAS-MOBERG, K., WERNER, S. & WINBERG, J. (1990) Short-term effects of early suckling and touch of the nipple on maternal behaviour. *Early Hum Dev*, 21, 153-63.
- WILLIAMS, G. L., GAZAL, O. S., LESHIN, L. S., STANKO, R. L. & ANDERSON, L. L. (2001) Physiological regulation of maternal behavior in heifers: roles of genital stimulation, intracerebral oxytocin release, and ovarian steroids. *Biol Reprod*, 65, 295-300.
- WINDLE, R. J., SHANKS, N., LIGHTMAN, S. L. & INGRAM, C. D. (1997) Central oxytocin administration reduces stress-induced corticosterone release and anxiety behavior in rats. *Endocrinology*, 138, 2829-34.
- WITT, D. M., WINSLOW, J. T. & INSEL, T. R. (1992) Enhanced social interactions in rats following chronic, centrally infused oxytocin. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 43, 855-61.
- YAMAGUCHI, K., AKAISHI, T. & NEGORO, H. (1979) Effect of estrogen treatment on plasma oxytocin and vasopressin in ovariectomized rats. *Endocrinol Jpn*, 26, 197-205.

## 9 Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to all those who have been supporting me in writing this thesis. I would especially like to thank: **Kerstin Uvnäs-Moberg**, my main-supervisor who gave me the opportunity to become a PhD-student. Thank you for teaching me about oxytocin and for your never ending enthusiasm and support.

My co-supervisors: **Mikael Ejdebäck**, who gave me the possibility to start working in this project six years ago. Thanks for all the help in the lab and for always being there. **Maria Petersson**, thank you for all the support and discussions and for always taking time for me in spite of your hectic schedule. **Eva Nissen**, thank you for introducing me into the world of statistics and for being my constant support when it comes to SPSS. **Bo Algers**, thank you for always helping med with SLU-related questions and for making me feel at home in Skara.

My co-authors: **Wibke Jonas**, thank you for introducing me into the life of a PhD student and for being a wonderful support and coworker. **Anne Nilsson**, it would never been possible to perform the dog study without your help. Good Luck in your own PhD studies.

Old and current members of **the molecular biology unit** and **the P<sup>2</sup>T research group** at the University of Skövde, thank you for always making it fun to come to work and for all discussions and meetings regarding both research and teaching. A special thanks to **Elie Järnmark**, for being a great friend and wonderful PhD colleague, good luck in the future! **Henrik Ericson**, for all fun times while teaching and for being a constant support. **Erik Gustafsson**, for discussions about life, both the god and the bad. My

former room-mates **Peter Sögård** and **Magnus Fagerlind**, thank you for all fun times and discussions and for putting up with all my phone calls.

The members of **the section of animal hygiene** in Skara, thank you for always making me feel at home in Skara.

My close friends outside the university: **Jenny and Claes**, thank you for all fun new years and midsummers, **Thomas**, thank you for all fun discussions and laughs. You are all truly great friends.

My family: Kerstin, Leon, Linda, Camilla, Bengt and Maria, thank you for your constant support and always being understanding although not always understanding what I do ;)

My parents **Maj and Sven**, thank you for teaching me to believe in myself and for being my greatest supporters. You're the best parents one can wish for.

My sister **Malin**, for always being there, no matter what and my brother **David**, for always making me laugh. You are the best siblings in the world. **Sune**, for truly teaching me the power of dogs.

And finally and most importantly, **Johan**, without your love and support this would never have been possible. You're my everything  $\forall$